Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior





#### Review

## New perspectives in glutamate and anxiety

Carlos Riaza Bermudo-Soriano <sup>a</sup>, M. Mercedes Perez-Rodriguez <sup>b</sup>, Concepcion Vaquero-Lorenzo <sup>c,d</sup>, Enrique Baca-Garcia <sup>e,f,g,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Ramón y Cajal University Hospital, Madrid, Spain

<sup>b</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Mount Sinai School of Medicine, New York, USA

<sup>c</sup> Department of Biology, Autonoma University of Madrid, Madrid, Spain

<sup>d</sup> Centro de Biología Molecular Severo Ochoa CSIC-UAM, Madrid, Spain

<sup>e</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Fundación Jiménez Díaz University Hospital, Madrid, CIBERSAM, Spain

<sup>f</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Columbia University Medical Center, New York, USA

<sup>g</sup> Autonoma University of Madrid, Madrid, Spain

#### ARTICLE INFO

Available online 30 April 2011

Keywords: Anxiety Fear conditioning Glutamate Polyamines

#### ABSTRACT

Anxiety and stress-related disorders, namely posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), generalized anxiety disorder (GAD), obsessive-compulsive disorder (ODC), social and specific phobias, and panic disorder, are a major public health issue.

A growing body of evidence suggests that glutamatergic neurotransmission may be involved in the biological mechanisms underlying stress response and anxiety-related disorders. The glutamatergic system mediates the acquisition and extinction of fear-conditioning. Thus, new drugs targeting glutamatergic neurotransmission may be promising candidates for new pharmacological treatments. In particular, N-methyl-p-aspartate receptors (NMDAR) antagonists (AP5, AP7, CGP37849, CGP39551, LY235959, NPC17742, and MK-801), NMDAR partial agonists (DCS, ACPC),  $\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxyl-5-methyl-4-isoxazole-propionate receptors (MMPARs) antagonists (topiramate), and several allosteric modulators targeting metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs) mGluR1, mGluR2/3, and mGluR5, have shown anxiolytic-like effects in several animal and human studies.

Several studies have suggested that polyamines (agmatine, putrescine, spermidine, and spermine) may be involved in the neurobiological mechanisms underlying stress-response and anxiety-related disorders. This could mainly be attributed to their ability to modulate ionotropic glutamate receptors, especially NR2B subunits. The aim of this review is to establish that glutamate neurotransmission and polyaminergic system play a fundamental role in the onset of anxiety-related disorders. This may open the way for new drugs that may help to treat these conditions.

© 2011 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	753
2.	Fear conditioning and fear extinction: animal models of anxiety	753
3.	Neurobiological basis of stress response and anxiety	754
4.	Glutamate in anxiety and stress-response	754
	4.1. Glutamate pharmacology	754
	4.2. Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis and glutamate	756

*Abbreviations:* ACPC, 1-aminocyclopropanecarboxylic acid; AMPARs, AMPA receptors; AP5, DL-2-amino-5-phosphonopentanoic acid; AP7, DL-2-amino-7-phosphonoheptanoic acid; BA, basal amygdala; BLA, basolateral amygdala nucleus; CA, central amygdala; CCF, cue-conditioned freezing; CCK-4, cholecystokinin tetrapeptide; CER, conditioned emotional response; CFC, contextual fear conditioning; CLS, conditioned lick suppression test; CNS, central nervous system; CPPG, alpha-cyclopropyl-4-phosphonophenylglycine CPP, 3-(2-Carboxypiperazin-4-yl)propyl-1-phosphonic acid; dlPAG, dorsal portion of periaqueductal gray matter; EPM, elevated plus maze; FPS, fear-potentiated startle; GAD, generalized anxiety disorder; GABA,  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid; GPCRs, G-protein coupled receptors; ICMs, intercalated cell masses; iGluR, ionotropic glutamate receptors; GST, Geller–Seifter conflict test; LA, lateral amygdala; LD, light-dark test; LTP, long-term potentiation; L-SOP, L-serine-O-phosphate; MBT, marble burying test; MCPG, methylcarboxyphenylglycine; mGluR, metabotropic glutamate receptor; MPEP, 2-methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)pyridine; MTEP, 3-[(2-methyl-1,3-thiazol-4-yl)ethynyl]pyridine; NMDARs, N-methyl-p-aspartate receptors; INOS, nitric oxide synthase; OCB, open channel blocker; OCD, obsessive-compulsive disorder; PAG, periaqueductal gray; PAGO, partial agonist; PHCCC, (–)-N-phenyl-7-(hydroxyimino) cyclopropa[b]chromen-1a-carboxamide; PTSD, posttraumatic stress disorder; SIH, stress-induced hyperthermia; SIT, social interaction test; (S)-3,4-DCPG, (S)-3,4-

\* Corresponding author at: Fundacion Jimenez Diaz, Av Reyes Católicos, Madrid, Spain. Tel.: + 34 3368271; fax: + 34 913368271.

E-mail address: Eb2452@columbia.edu (E. Baca-Garcia).

0091-3057/\$ – see front matter 0 2011 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2011.04.010

	4.3.	Glutamate neurotransmission is involved in the synaptic mechanisms underlying associative fear learning				
	4.4.	Animal models show a link between glutamate neurotransmission and anxiety	758			
	4.5.	Human studies linking glutamatergic neurotransmission and anxiety	761			
5.	Polyar	mines, stress and glutamate	766			
	5.1.	Polyamines and their metabolism	766			
	5.2.	Polyamines and neuropsychiatric disorders	767			
	5.3.	Polyamines modulate ionotropic glutamate receptors	767			
	5.4.	There is a link between polyamines and anxiety-related conditions	767			
6.	Conclu	usions	768			
	Refere	2nces	768			

#### 1. Introduction

Fear and anxiety are crucial and adaptive components of the overall behavioral and autonomic response to potentially threatening situations, namely stress response. However, fear responses may become maladaptive and undergo a process of generalization by which any contextual stimulus can become linked to persistent fear and anxiety symptoms (Garakani et al., 2006a).

Anxiety and stress-related disorders, including posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), generalized anxiety disorder (GAD), obsessive-compulsive disorder (ODC), social and specific phobias, and panic disorder, are a major public health issue. In the United States, anxiety disorders are the most prevalent of psychiatric disorders affecting 15.7 million people each year, and 30 million people at some point in their lives (Lepine, 2002). The European Study of the Epidemiology of Mental Disorders (ESEMeD) estimated that only 20.6% of people suffering from an anxiety disorder sought help from health care services; of these, 20.7% received no treatment (Alonso and Lepine, 2007).

To date, anxiety disorders have been treated with widely prescribed drugs that target  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) and serotonergic neurotransmission, like benzodiazepines and selective serotonin uptake inhibitors (SSRIs) respectively (American Psychiatric Association, 2006; Garakani et al., 2006a). Although the efficacy of these treatments has proven to be very high in many sufferers, there are several drawbacks which should be considered. Adverse effects include cognitive dysfunction, weight gain, sexual dysfunction, sedation, dependence and withdrawal (Cortese and Phan, 2005). Additionally, many patients are non-responders to these treatments (Hammer et al., 2004). As a result, many sufferers relapse and noncompliance places a strain on scarce resources. By examining in greater detail the mechanisms involved in fear and anxiety we will be able to develop more effective treatments to a wider range of patients.

In the last two decades, the role of glutamate in fear conditioning and anxiety-related disorders is becoming more recognized. There are, however, several drugs that target glutamate receptors that are going through clinical trials (Bergink et al., 2004; Cortese and Phan, 2005; Krystal et al., 2010; Palucha and Pilc, 2007; Wieronska and Pilc, 2009). Research is also ongoing in several molecules that naturally modulate glutamatergic neurotransmission, such as polyamines (Fiori and Turecki, 2008; Gomes et al., 2010; Vaquero-Lorenzo et al., 2008). Polyamines may have a significant influence on the molecular mechanisms related to associative fear memory (Gomes et al., 2010).

The aim of this review is to establish that glutamatergic neurotransmission and the polyaminergic system play a fundamental role in the onset of anxiety-related disorders. First, we will describe the animal models used to study fear and anxiety response so that it may be extrapolated into a human context. We will then go on to consider in greater detail the role of glutamatergic neurotransmission, and its consequent regulation through polyamine metabolism, in associative fear memory formation.

#### 2. Fear conditioning and fear extinction: animal models of anxiety

There are no biological markers of anxiety disorders available for use in clinical practice. Therefore, diagnosis relies on clinical interviews. Surrogate markers of anxiety, such as hyperthermia, tachycardia, increase in blood pressure, and raised cortisol secretion could be useful when evaluating anxiety. However, such peripheral autonomic parameters may not accurately reflect the cerebral mechanisms underlying anxiety and stress response. Therefore, in order to explore potential mechanisms of anxiety, two different types of tests have been developed: natural behavior tests and tests based on classical fear conditioning (see: Table 1).

Natural behavior tests examine the animal's natural response to stressful stimuli. As an example of typical natural behavior tests, the elevated plus maze noncompliance measures the conflict between an animal's natural tendency to explore and the innate fear of heights and open spaces (Blair et al., 2001; Pellow and File, 1986).

On the other hand, conditioned stress tests are based on a common process of associative learning. For example, fear conditioning measures how a neutral stimulus (conditioned stimulus, CS) that does not naturally cause a behavioral response, is paired with a strong aversive stimulus (unconditioned stimulus, US). As a result of this pairing, the conditioned stimulus (CS) acquires the ability to generate endocrine, autonomic, and behavioral responses that are typically expressed in the presence of danger (conditioned response, CR) (Blair et al., 2001). For example, in the Vogel Conflict Test (VCT), previously water-deprived rodents are exposed to punishment with a mild intermittent aversive electrical stimulus whenever they drink (Millan and Brocco, 2003). This is the context in which fear-response is studied.

Fear conditioning is present across animal species, where the same primitive neural circuits may be involved. Hence, fear conditioning has gained much attention as a useful animal model for the investigation of the neurobiological components of learning and stress-related memory (Blair et al., 2001; Rogan et al., 2001), because drugs affecting fear conditioning may have potential utility for the treatment of anxiety-related disorders (Millan and Brocco, 2003).

Once fear conditioning has been learned, it can be very difficult to reverse. Nevertheless, fear conditioning and its associated fear responses can be inhibited by an active process known as fear extinction (Stahl, 2008). Fear extinction occurs when an animal is repeatedly exposed to the CS in the absence of the US. That leads to a decline in the magnitude of the fear-associated response. Like other forms of learning and memory, fear extinction involves encoding, consolidation, retrieval and expression stages, which are mediated by different neural mechanisms (Myers et al., 2011).

Unlike fear conditioning, fear extinction is a labile process that tends to reverse over time. For instance, exposure to the CS alone, after the extinction process has been established, leads to the reappearance of the CR, a phenomenon called reinstatement (Myers et al., 2011). Also, fear conditioning can return if the old fear stimuli are presented in a

A summary of the main experimental models of anxiety used in animals – modified from Millan (2003).

Long term anxious states (Trait)
1. Rodent strains displaying high or low anxiety
2. Inter-individual differences within a defined strain
3. Chronic exposure to fear-provoking stimuli
4. Genetic models: transgenic and knock-out models
Acute anxious states (State)
A. Unconditioned
1. Exploration (avoidance, conflict)
Elevated plus-maze (open arms vs closed arms)
Light–dark box (light chambers vs dark chambers)
Open field (central squares vs peripheral squares)
Neonhobia/emergence test (novel object)
2 Interaction based
Separation-induced ultrasonic vocalizations
Resident intruder
Active social interaction (unfamiliar rat pairs)
3 Acute response to aversive stimuli (environment or brain stimulation)
Freezing
Illtrasonic vocalization
Startle
Autonomic response (heart rate, arterial pressure, endocrine secretion)
4 Defensive behavior to threatening stimuli
Fear/defense battery
B Conditioned
1 Non-conflict procedures
Fear-induced freezing
Fear-induced startle
Fear-induced ultrasonic vocalizations
Fear-induced ultrasonic vocalizations
Shock-burying probe (burying of aversive object)
1 Conflict procedures
Vogel Conflict Test
Celler_Seifter (operant lever_pressing for reward)
Conditioned suppression (no punishment during test session)
Safety-signal withdrawal (no punishment during test session)
Conditioned place oversion
2 Drug discrimination

different context from the one in which extinction was learned, a process termed renewal (Myers et al., 2011).

Currently there are many drugs targeting glutamate neurotransmission that affect fear conditioning and extinction, such as AP5, AP7, and D-cycloserine (DCS). The question is whether these drugs may also be used to treat anxiety-related disorders.

#### 3. Neurobiological basis of stress response and anxiety

The anatomic core of fear and anxiety is represented by several interrelated limbic structures: certain nuclei of the amygdaloid complex, the septo-hippocampal system, the periaqueductal gray matter and some areas in the hypothalamus (Charney and Deutch, 1996). These brain structures evaluate the extent to which environmental situations are threatening to the individual and help elaborate the appropriate patterns of defense (Millan, 2003).

The amygdaloid complex and its efferent neuronal projections are involved in the acquisition, consolidation and expression of conditioned fear (Pape and Pare, 2010; Pare et al., 2004; Walker and Davis, 2002) and may have a role in the pathogenesis of anxiety-related disorders (Davidson, 2002). Animal models have showed that electrical activation of the amygdala leads to a pattern of behavioral responses that resemble fear responses caused by stressful stimuli. On the other hand, experimental lesions of the lateral amygdala (LA) or central amygdala (CA) can abolish the acquisition of long-term contextual fear memory (Amorapanth et al., 2000; Blair et al., 2005; Goosens and Maren, 2001; Maren, 1996; Nader et al., 2001; Wallace and Rosen, 2001). Similarly, inhibition of LA and adjacent areas with the GABA receptor agonist muscimol during fear conditioning may impair the acquisition of auditory CS-elicited fear responses (Wilensky et al., 2006). Lesions of the basal amygdala (BA) may also produce a similar effect on fear response (Ledoux, 2003; Ledoux, 2007; Morrison and Salzman, 2010; Onishi and Xavier, 2010).

Neurons from the LA receive inputs from both sensory cortex and thalamus (Blair et al., 2005). During fear conditioning, when a weak input reaching those neurons is paired with the activation caused by a stronger second signal, repetition strengthens that synaptic transmission (Collins and Pare, 2000; Repa et al., 2001; Rogan et al., 1997). In a cellular perspective, this can be explained as the result of a process of active synaptic enhancement (Blair et al., 2005). As an example, experimental interference with macromolecular synthesis in the LA and surrounding areas prevents the consolidation of long-term memory in the associative auditory fear conditioning paradigm (Nader et al., 2000a; Schafe and Ledoux, 2000b). Thus, in the fear conditioning paradigm, the US leads to a change in the way the brain processes the CS (Millan and Brocco, 2003).

Though fear-extinction can suppress the fear-associated response, it does not seem to remove the synaptic changes acquired during fearconditioning. Thus, fear extinction involves new learning and new synaptic changes in the amygdala (Myers et al., 2011), including downstream changes in second messenger's phosphorylation status and in gene expression patterns within basolateral amygdala nucleus (BLA) (Herry et al., 2008; Myers et al. 2011).

Fear-extinction learning and memory process, as well as its modulation by context, involves three main components: the amygdala, medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC), and hippocampus (Myers et al., 2011; Quirk and Mueller, 2008). Fear-extinction takes place when inputs from hippocampus and mPFC activate glutamatergic neurons in the BLA that synapse on an inhibitory GABAergic interneurons located within the intercalated cell masses (ICMs) of the amygdala, that gate the impulse from the BLA to the CA. In this context, fear-extinction predominates over fear-conditioning when synaptic strengthening in this new circuit is able to produce an inhibitory GABAergic drive associated with a pre-existing fear conditioning circuitry (Stahl, 2008).

#### 4. Glutamate in anxiety and stress-response

Several lines of evidence suggest that limbic glutamatergic neurotransmission plays a pivotal role in the pathogenesis of anxiety disorders (Bergink et al., 2004; Garakani et al., 2006b; Millan, 2003; Vaquero-Lorenzo et al., 2008). Firstly, amygdalar and hippocampal NMDA and metabotropic glutamate receptors are involved in the mechanisms related to fear-conditioning and inhibitory-avoidance memory formation (Bauer et al., 2002; Fanselow et al., 1994; Fendt, 2001; Lee and Kim, 1998; Rogan et al., 1997; Rubin et al., 2004a; Walker and Davis, 2002). Secondly, acute stress enhances glutamate release in the amygdala (Reznikov et al., 2007). Thirdly, NMDARs control neurons secreting corticotrophin releasing factor (CRF) in central amygdala nucleus (Cratty and Birkle, 1999; Shepard et al., 2000) and exert a significant influence upon the activity of monoaminergic pathways (Millan, 2002).

Glutamate receptors seem to play an important role in fearmediated learning, affecting both hippocampal-dependent associative learning and amygdala-dependent emotional processing during and after a stressful event (Nair and Singh, 2008). Amygdalar and hippocampal NMDARs are involved in the acquisition and expression of contextual and fear conditioning (Cortese and Phan, 2005).

#### 4.1. Glutamate pharmacology

Glutamate is the main excitatory neurotransmitter in the human Central Nervous System (CNS). Glutamate has been involved in many biological processes, such as neurodevelopment, learning and memory formation (possibly through long-term potentiation and depression) (Barkus et al., 2010; Kew and Kemp, 2005). Moreover, glutamate may have a pivotal role in several psychiatric conditions (such as schizophrenia, mood disorders and anxiety) (Vaquero-Lorenzo et al., 2008) and in neurodegenerative disorders (Alzheimer's disease and Huntington's disease).

Glutamate can exert its actions through two different types of receptors: ligand-gated ion channel receptors (ionotropic) and G-protein-coupled metabotropic receptors. Ligand-gated ion channel receptors consist of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDARs),  $\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazole propionic acid receptors (AMPARs), and kainate receptors (KARs) (Kew and Kemp, 2005) (see: Fig. 1). This group mediates fast excitatory neurotransmission (Hirsch et al., 1997).

On the other hand, three metabotropic glutamate receptor types have been described: group I (mGluR1 and mGluR5), mainly postsynaptic, coupled to the activation of phospholipase-C (Giouzeli et al., 2004); group II (mGluR2 and mGluR3), both pre- and postsynaptic; and group III (mGluR4, mGluR6, mGluR7 and dmGluR8). Both groups II and III are coupled to inhibition of adenylyl cyclase (Wieronska and Pilc, 2009). Metabotropic glutamate receptors mediate slow glutamate neurotransmission (Krystal et al., 2010; Wieronska and Pilc, 2009).

Each NMDAR complex consists of four (occasionally five) subunits: two NR1 subunits (generated by alternative splicing of a single gene, NR1), and two or three NR2 subunits (coded by four related genes, NR2 A–D). Recently, a third type of NMDA receptor subunit (NR3), which dramatically reduces ion permeability, has been described (Konradi and Heckers, 2003; Loftis and Janowsky, 2003; Mueller and Meador-Woodruff, 2003; Mueller and Meador-Woodruff, 2004; Nishi et al., 2001). This situation leads to an enormous heterogeneity in terms of neurochemical modulation profiles (Riaza Bermudo-Soriano et al., 2007).

Non-NMDA ionotropic receptor complexes are tetramers formed by the addition of subunits GluR1-4, for AMPARs, and GluR5-7 (lowaffinity for glutamate, GRIK1-3) and KA1-2 (high-affinity for glutamate, GRIK4 and 5) for kainate receptors. AMPARs are primarily postsynaptic, and KARs can be both post- and presynaptic, regulating glutamate release (Frerking and Nicoll, 2000; Konradi and Heckers, 2003; Lerma, 2001; Lerma et al., 2001).

Both ionotropic and metabotropic glutamate receptors are distributed throughout the brain in a similar pattern. Limbic and paralimbic regions (hippocampus, amygdala, orbitofrontal cortex, anterior cingulated cortex, medial prefrontal cortex and insula), which have been extensively linked to stress-response and anxietyrelated disorders, are abundantly innervated by glutamatergic pyramidal cells. Glutamate pyramidal cells in the PFC sent afferents to several limbic regions, particularly to hippocampus and amygdala (Myers et al., 2011). Moreover, up to 85–95% of the neurons in BLA are glutamatergic and project to ventral striatum and PFC. Immunochemistry studies have revealed that NR1, NR2A, NR2B, and, possibly, NR2C and NR2D may be primarily located in cortical layers II/III, V, VI and IV. AMPARs are mainly expressed in layers II/III and V-VI. Both NMDA and AMPA receptors are also expressed in astrocytes, a cellular type tightly linked to the control of glutamatergic neurotransmission (Hicks and Conti, 1996) (Fig. 2).

Several factors regulate the activity of ionotropic glutamate receptors. Activation of NMDAR complex needs two molecules of glutamate (acting on the NMDA site of NR2), and two molecules of glycine (acting on the glycineB site of NR1), while AMPA/kainate receptors are glycine-independent (Konradi and Heckers, 2003). The effects of post-translational modifications and the modulatory effects by Mg<sup>2+</sup>, Zn<sup>2+</sup>, H<sup>+</sup>, histamine, araquidonic acid, steroids, citoescheleton protein actin, phosphorylation status, redox status and polyamines, have been extensively studied (Ekegren, 2005; Williams, 1997a; Williams, 1997b).

At resting membrane potential, NMDARs are normally blocked by  $Mg^{2+}$ . This block is removed during membrane depolarization of the postsynaptic cell, leading to the activation of the receptor complex. However, the NMDAR's channel can only be opened when presynaptically-released glutamate is bound to the receptor if  $Mg^{2+}$  block has



**Fig. 1.** Glutamate receptors. (A) NMDARs are formed by 2 NR1 and 2 NR2 subunits. NR1 subunits are coded by a single gene generating 8 splice variants. In contrast, each NR2 subunit NR2 (A–D) is coded by a different gene. Under physiological circumstances,  $Mg^{2+}$  blocks NMDAR's pore. Glutamate released at the synaptic cleft may be insufficient to repeal  $Mg^{2+}$ . In contrast, concurrent membrane depolarization may be able to expel  $Mg^{2+}$ , leading to cation entry through the pore (Na<sup>+</sup>, K<sup>+</sup>, y Ga<sup>2+</sup>). Glycine coactivation is necessary for NMDARs to be opened. (B) AMPARs and KARs are made up of 4 subunits (GluR1-4 in AMPARs, and GRIK1-5 in KARs). In this case, glutamate release into the synaptic cleft is enough to open AMPAR and KARs. (C) Metabotropic receptors (mGluR) are not directly coupled to cationic channels. In contrast, mGluR activation may exert its effects through G-coupled protein and through second messenger pathways. (D). Group I mGluRs may activate phospholypase-C (PLC) (Giouzeli et al., 2004), while group II and group III may inhibit adenyl-cyclase (AC) – Modified from (Konradi and Heckers, 2003; Riaza Bermudo-Soriano et al., 2007).

already been removed (postsynaptic depolarization combined with presynaptic stimulation). Since NMDA and AMPA receptors are coexpressed in the same locations, the activation of AMPARs, as a result of glutamate release, can generate excitatory postsynaptic potentials (EPSPs) that may be detected by NMDARs (Hestrin, 1992a; Hestrin, 1992b; Hicks and Conti, 1996). Therefore, NMDARs may act as synchrony detectors (Blair et al., 2001). This process may be particularly relevant during synaptogenesis and neural circuitry plasticity (Konradi and Heckers, 2003).

Glutamate not only exerts its effects through direct activation of glutamate neurotransmission but it also modulates the release of other neurotransmitters involved in stress-response, such as serotonin (Becquet et al., 1993; Cheramy et al., 1986), dopamine (Jedema and Moghddam, 1996), monoamines and GABA (Cortese and Phan, 2005).

#### 4.2. Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis and glutamate

The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis is the core structure regulating human stress response. Cortisol release from adrenal glands is a normal reaction to everyday stress. However, excessive cortisol release, due to long-term chronic activation of the HPA axis, may lead to detrimental effects on hippocampal neurons (Duman et al., 1997; Ernst et al., 2009; McKinnon et al., 2009; Sapolsky, 2003). Chronic stress and the resultant increase in circulating cortisol may lead to glutamate-mediated neurotoxicity in hippocampus (Sapolsky, 2003a). In particular, animal paradigms that replicate chronic stress exposure, like immobilization and the forced swimming test, lead to a significant increase in cortisol release by adrenals and glutamate release and uptake in hippocampus and prefrontal cortex (PFC) (Moghaddam, 1993). Moreover, chronic stress has demonstrated to increase AMPA gene expression in hippocampus, making this region particularly vulnerable to neurotoxicity (Schwendt and Jezova, 2000).

Stress-induced brain changes may be region-specific (Cortese and Phan, 2005). Chronic stress may lead to hippocampal neuronal atrophy and death, reduced regeneration, reduced dendritic branching, and may be able to impair hippocampal-dependent spatial learning tasks (i.e., Morris water maze, and radial arm maze) (Isgor et al., 2004; Luine et al., 1994). On the other hand, chronic stress has been associated with hypertrophy and increased dendritic neuronal branching in BLA (Vyas et al., 2002) and in the bed nucleus of stria terminalis (Vyas et al., 2003), and, interestingly, may enhance the acquisition of amygdala-dependent aversive learning, such as fear conditioning (Conrad et al., 1999).

Stress may lead to changes in glutamatergic neurotransmission (Nair and Singh, 2008). For example, stress caused by single immobilization in rats leads to an increase in the levels of mRNA coding for the NR1 subunit in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of hypothalamus (Ziegler et al., 2005), and raised NMDAR binding in



**Fig. 2.** Ionotropic glutamate receptors. (A) AMPARs are made up of 4 or 5 subunits. Each subunit has 4 transmembrane domains (M1-4), a cytosolic, and an extracelular region. These subunits (GluR1, 2, 3, and 4) may show two splice forms: flip and flop. Flop subunits desensitize quicker than flip subunits. AMPARs containing GluR2 subunits exhibit limited Ca<sup>2+</sup> and are less likely to be modulated by polyamines than those formed by GluR1, GluR3 and GluR4 (Jayakar and Dikshit 2004a). M2 helix, which is located inside the channel's pore, may undergo the postraslational substitution of glutamine (Q) for arginine (R), which leads to a reduction of channel's conductance. This arginine at Q/R position may repeal spermine. AMPAR-integrating subunits may also suffer another postraslational edition (arginine to glutamine, R/G) near flip–flop domain; glutamine–edited AMPA subunits lead to a quick desensitization. (B) NMDARs are formed by 4 subunits: 2 NR1 and 2 NR2. Some NR1 subunits contain a highly cationic 21-aminoacid sequence (N1 insert). NR1 subunits lacking N1 insert show high sensibility to spermine modulation. Several positions that may affect NMDARs' sensibility to spermine and pH, such as Glu-342 (N-Terminal), and Asp-G69 (E), have also been included in the figure. Interestingly, blockade by Mg<sup>2+</sup> or by spermine may be determined by an asparagine residue in M2 domain (Williams, 1997b; Riaza Bermudo-Soriano and Chinchilla Moreno, 2007).

hypothalamus (Herman et al., 2000). Similar changes may be observed after exogenous corticosterone administration (Brann and Mahesh, 1997c). However, pretreatment with the NMDAR antagonist dizocilpine reduced ACTH secretion caused by immobilization stress, suggesting NMDAR is involved in the neurobiological response to stress (Nair and Singh, 2008).

Glutamate and the HPA axis are interconnected. Actually, microinjections of glutamate into the rat PVN resulted in an increase of ACTH and corticosterone levels, an increase in CRF release, but also increased the amount of c-Fos positive CRF neurons, and elevated the cortex arousal (measured with electrocorticogram) (Brann and Mahesh, 1997b; Kita et al., 2006). Furthermore, increase in glutamate-induced release of CRF and levels of corticosterone are NMDAR-mediated (Brann and Mahesh, 1997a; Mathew et al., 2001), since they may be abolished when NMDAR antagonist is applied (Joanny et al., 1997).

# 4.3. Glutamate neurotransmission is involved in the synaptic mechanisms underlying associative fear learning

This section assesses the role of glutamate neurotransmission in the neurobiological mechanisms underlying fear-related memory.

Neural changes associated with fear conditioning in the LA may result from a process of associative long-term potentiation (LTP) (Chapman et al., 1990). When drugs interfering with LTP are injected into the LA both acquisition and expression of fear conditioning are disrupted, what suggests that the CS–US association may be possibly due to an active process of fear memory storage (Blair et al., 2001).

The short-term fear memory process taking place in LA seems to depend on calcium (Ca<sup>2+</sup>) (Malenka, 1991). In the fear-conditioning model, the CS is able to induce excitatory postsynaptic potentials (EPSPs) at sensory input synapses located on the LA pyramidal neurons. Depolarization induced by US in the same LA neurons leads to raised Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx through NMDARs and may finally cause the LA neuron to fire action potentials. Those action potentials may also propagate backwards into dendrites, converging with the EPSPs triggered by other inputs, what facilitates Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry through voltagegated calcium channels (VGCCs). Experimental blockade of NMDA receptors by the antagonist AP5 blocks fear acquisition and expression (Jasnow et al., 2004; Zhao et al., 2005). Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry through NMDARs (Malenka and Nicoll, 1999) may be enough to produce synaptic changes associated with short-term fear memory, however, Ca<sup>2+</sup> flux through both NMDARs and VGCCs may be mandatory to activate the molecular mechanisms that lead to long-term memory (Bauer et al., 2002; Blair et al., 2001; Blair et al., 2005; Rodrigues et al., 2004). Although LA may not be the only site where such changes occur (Poremba and Gabriel, 2001), it is very likely the site where changes relevant to behavioral fear learning come about (Blair et al., 2001; Blair et al., 2005).

Hebbian LTP has been extensively studied as a model of associative memory formation (Huang et al., 2000a; Martin and Shapiro, 2000; Rogan et al., 2001) and several molecular mechanisms for the socalled "coincidence detection" have been described (Tsien, 2000). High-frequency (tetanic) stimulation of afferents to the hippocampus leads to LTP (Bliss and Lomo, 1973). LTP may only occur in active presynaptic afferents (Lynch et al., 1977) and is considered to be associative (the coactivation of strong and weak inputs onto the same neuron can lead to strengthening of the weak inputs) (Lev and Steward, 1979). Tetanic stimulation of the presynaptic afferents may be so strong that it will be able to simultaneously induce a robust depolarization of the postsynaptic neuron (Blair et al., 2001). Alternatively, LTP can also be obtained by paired simultaneous activation of the presynaptic and the postsynaptic neurons (Magee and Johnston, 1997b). Although much of our understanding of the neurobiological mechanisms of Hebbian LTP has been obtained from studies developed in neocortex and hippocampal pyramidal cells (Bliss and Collingridge, 1993; Malenka and Nicoll, 1999), they may also be applied to fear conditioning taking place in the amygdala (Blair et al., 2001; Blair et al., 2005).

Synaptic enhancement underlying associative LTP depends on  $Ca^{2+}$  influx into the postsynaptic cell (Malenka, 1991). This  $Ca^{2+}$  influx leads to the activation of intracellular signals that will finally increase glutamate-evoked currents, via  $Ca^{2+}$ -calmodulin-kinases pathway, NMDA receptor's phosphorylation, and through raised AMPAR expression (Isaac et al., 1995; Konradi and Heckers, 2003; Liao et al., 1995). Two different receptors are believed to explain the fact that  $Ca^{2+}$  influx only occurs when the pre-and postsynaptic cells are concurrently activated, and not when either neuron is activate alone (Blair et al., 2001): NMDARs (Malenka and Nicoll, 1999) and VGCCs (Sabatini and Svoboda, 2000a).

Both NMDARs and VGCCs might be able to function as Hebbian coincidence detectors (Blair et al., 2001). VGCCs are generally located in spines and dendrites adjacent to glutamatergic synapses (Sabatini and Svoboda, 2000b). NMDA receptor's induced  $Ca^{2+}$  influx may be enhanced by the activation of VGCCs (Johnston et al., 1999). L-type VGCCs show a high activation threshold, so they are opened only during a robust postsynaptic depolarization. Such condition may only be reached when back-propagating action potentials (BPAPs) get access to dendrites of the postsynaptic neurons (Johnston et al., 1999). Those BPAPs may then be amplified when they hit the EPSPs (Stuart and Hausser, 2001), giving place to a higher and confined increase in  $Ca^{2+}$  influx and LTP in active synapses (Blair et al., 2001; Magee and Johnston, 1997a; Stuart and Hausser, 2001).

Both in vitro and in vivo experimental models have suggested that Hebbian LTP, mediated by the activity of NMDAR and VGCCs in LA, may account for fear conditioning (Blair et al., 2001). Pyramidal neurons located in LA receive excitatory afferents from cortex and auditory thalamus. Those cells express both NMDARs and AMPARs on their dendrites and spines (Ledoux, 2007; Ledoux and Farb, 1991), which may be contributing to EPSPs elicited after presynaptic stimulation of auditory thalamic afferents to LA (Weisskopf and Ledoux, 1999). In that context, fear conditioning depends upon a LTPdependent strengthening of those synapses (McKernan and Shinnick-Gallagher, 1997; Rogan and Ledoux, 1995).

LTP can be blocked by both NMDAR and VGCC antagonists (Bauer et al., 2000). Blocking of NMDAR with antagonist APV (Bauer et al., 2000; Huang et al., 2000b) or by Ca<sup>2+</sup>-chelator BAPTA (Huang and Kandel, 1998), during tetanic stimulation, is able to abolish LTP. A similar but less intense phenomenon can be observed in the paired stimulation model of LTP in LA (Huang and Kandel, 1998). In paired-induced LTP model, neither NMDAR antagonist MK-801 nor APV disrupted LTP, suggesting that other mechanisms different from NMDARs activation may be involved (Weisskopf and Ledoux, 1999). In contrast, LTP was abolished when either BAPTA, L-type VGCC antagonist nifedipine, or VGCC antagonist verapamil was added (Bauer et al., 2000; Weisskopf and Ledoux, 1999).

Fear conditioning depends on NMDAR and VGCC (Blair et al., 2001). NMDAR antagonist APV into LA and adjacent basal nucleus impairs the acquisition of new fear responses, including auditory fear conditioning (Lee and Kim, 1998), contextual fear conditioning (Fanselow et al., 1994; Maren, 1996a), and fear-potentiated startle (Miserendino et al., 1990; Walker and Davis, 2000). Besides, APV also prevents the expression of previously learned fear (Lee and Kim, 1998; Maren et al., 1996; Fendt, 2001; Lee et al., 2001), although some inconsistent results have also been reported (Walker and Davis, 2000a). Nifedipine has demonstrated to be able to disrupt fear conditioning (Weisskopf and Ledoux, 1999), while L-type VGCC antagonist verapamil may interfere with the acquisition, but not the expression, of previously learned conditioned fear (Bauer et al., 2000; Blair et al., 2001).

Memory storage and underlying synaptic plasticity processes necessary for fear conditioning may depend on the function of NR2B subunits (Day et al., 2010). NDMARs incorporating NR2B subunits produce longer EPSPs than those incorporating only NR2A subunits (Monyer et al., 1994). Experimental overexpression of the NR2B subunit in hippocampus enables LTP and enhances learning of hippocampal-dependent tasks (Tang et al., 1999). Hippocampal LTP leads to increased tyrosine phosphorylation at the NR2B subunits (Rosenblum et al., 1996; Rostas et al., 1996). NR2B subunits in the insular cortex have been associated with memory for novel tastes (Rosenblum et al., 1997). Interestingly, a single minute glutamate release can activate NR2B-containing NMDARs for up to 300 ms (Flint et al., 1997; Monyer et al., 1994). Thus, even a low frequency of glutamate release could be enough to maintain glutamate persistently bound to NMDARs (especially NR2B-containing NMDARs) throughout the CS when LA cells are being depolarized by the US (Blair et al., 2001).

NR2B subunit in the BLA is necessary for the acquisition of conditioned fear (Day et al., 2010). While nonselective NMDAR antagonists block NMDARs in general, independently of their heteromeric composition, ifenprodil can selectively block NR2B (Rodrigues et al., 2001). Unlike the effects of APV, infusion of ifenprodil into LA prior to testing blocks the acquisition, but not the expression, of tone-conditioned fear, suggesting that NR2B subunits may have a central role in synaptic plasticity (Blair et al., 2001).

Accordingly to what has been explained before, when recently CSevoked EPSP and BPAP collide in LA pyramidal cells, Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx (through NMDARs and VGCCs) activates second messenger pathways, including the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway and protein kinase A (PKA) pathway (Bourtchouladze et al., 1998; Schafe et al., 1999b, 2000), that lead to raised AMPARs permeability and synapse strengthening. Such coincidence allows CS to exert a significant action over effector circuits controlling stress response (Blair et al., 2001). Although short-term fear memories are immediately stored by synaptic changes taking place in LA when US and CS overlap, long-term memories involve protein synthesis to consolidate those immediate short-term synaptic enhancements into permanent synaptic modifications (Blair et al., 2001; Nader et al., 2000; Schafe et al., 1999, 2000; Schafe and Ledoux, 2000a).

4.4. Animal models show a link between glutamate neurotransmission and anxiety

Animal models have paved the way for a better understanding of the mechanisms underlying stress-response and anxiety (Cortese and Phan, 2005).

A growing body of evidence suggests that drugs increasing the excitability of output neurons in BLA enhance aversive conditioning, whereas those treatments that are able to decrease the excitability of these neurons may exert anxiolytic effects (Ledoux, 1994; Maren, 1996; Sajdyk and Shekhar, 1997b). This later phenomenon may be achieved by either rising GABA neurotransmission or by decreasing the excitatory glutamatergic tone in the BLA. Moreover, both GABAergic (inhibitory) and glutamatergic (excitatory) neurotransmission may be modulated by presynaptic excitatory amino acid receptors, apparently through activation of mGluRs autoreceptors (Bergink et al., 2004; Palucha and Pilc, 2007; Salt and Eaton, 1995; Wieronska and Pilc, 2009). In consequence, pharmacological agents that block glutamate output in BLA may be of therapeutic use for treating anxiety-related disorders (Bergink et al., 2004).

Sleep deprivation, which has been demonstrated to induce panic attacks in humans with panic disorder and to worsen generalized anxiety disorder, may affect glutamate metabolism in animal's brain cortex. A study that used the sleep deprivation model in rats measured glutamate and aspartate in the medial prefrontal cortex, measured by magic-angle spinning proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy (<sup>1</sup>H-MRS) (Uhde et al., 2004). This study found a significant increase in the levels of glutamate and aspartate in the medial prefrontal cortex of those rats exposed to 6 h of sleep

deprivation, compared with rats with normal sleep/wake cycles (Cortese and Phan, 2005). From a behavioral perspective, total sleepdeprived (SD) rats spent a more time in the open arms of the elevated plus maze (EPM) (reduced fear-like and increased risk-taking behaviors). This may be associated with a significant increase in thalamic and hippocampal glutamate levels. An inverse relationship between glutamate in the medial prefrontal cortex and risk taking in the EPM was observed (Cortese et al., 2010).

Stress may also affect glutamate metabolism in non-human primates. Magnetic resonance spectroscopic imaging studies have revealed that glutamate–glutamine- $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid (Glx) may be altered in response to stress (Mathew et al., 2003). Mother–infant macaque dyads reared on difficulty of food procurement, a method known to produce lasting stress-related behavioral and hormonal effects, showed increased Glx/creatinine compared with matched normal control subjects, at the age of 10. Although measures of Glx may be somewhat controversial, several studies suggest that variations in Glx may mainly reflect changes in glutamate levels (Bartha et al., 2000; Cortese and Phan, 2005; Kaiser et al., 2005; Ke et al., 2000). The meaning of these biological changes may seem somewhat dim.

Genetically-modified animals lacking glutamate receptors may be useful for the evaluation of anxiety-like behavior. Mice lacking the NR1 subunit of the NMDAR, specifically in the granule cells of the dentate gyrus, exhibit normal LTP in the CA1 region but dramatically reduced LTP in both the medial and lateral perforant path inputs to the dentate gyrus (Niewoehner et al., 2007). In addition, these dentate gyrus NR1 knockout mice exhibit a very selective impairment in short-term spatial working memory, and may also show less anxietylike behavior (Niewoehner et al., 2007a). Recently, another mice line lacking the NR2B subunit of the NMDAR specifically from hippocampal granule and pyramidal cells in the dentate gyrus and CA1 subfields respectively, may be less prone to anxiety (Barkus et al., 2010; von et al., 2008).

Glutamate agonists and antagonists have been tested in different animal models of anxiety (Table 1). Two main paradigms may be distinguished, conditioned behavior models (that use conflict tests) and unconditioned behavior models (social interaction test, SIT, the elevated plus maze, EPM, the ultrasonic vocalization paradigm, USV and the acoustic startle paradigm, ASP) (Bergink et al., 2004; Millan, 2003).

A growing number of NMDAR antagonists, acting at different sites on the NMDAR, have been assessed using unconditioned tests of anxiety in rodents (for detailed information see: Table 2). For example, 3-(2-Carboxypiperazin-4-yl)propyl-1-phosphonic acid (CPP) increased social interaction and increased the time spent in the open arms of the elevated plus maze (EPM) in rats, what could be interpreted as a reduction in anxiety (Corbett and Dunn, 1993; Dunn et al., 1989a). The NMDAR competitive antagonist, AP5, has shown anxiolytic-like effects in several rodent studies of unconditioned anxiety (EPM and social interaction test, SIT), in amygdala (Sajdyk and Shekhar, 1997a), in medial septum (Elvander-Tottie et al., 2006), and in ventral hippocampus (Nascimento Hackl and Carobrez, 2007). However, in other studies AP5 injections have also shown no significant effects (Lehmann et al., 2000; Menard and Treit, 2000), or could even induce anxiety-like behaviors (Barros et al., 2000). Whereas AP5 injection in ventral hippocampus may be associated with an increase in the amount of time spent on the open arms of EPM (Nascimento Hackl and Carobrez, 2007), AP5 injections in dorsal hippocampus might have no significant effect (Barros et al., 2000; Nascimento Hackl and Carobrez, 2007; Padovan et al., 2000), suggesting functional dissociation between ventral and dorsal hippocampus (Barkus et al., 2010). AP5 injections have also shown anxiolytic-like effects in rat conditioned anxiety paradigms (Campeau et al., 1992; Fendt et al., 1996; Lehmann et al., 2000; Menard and Treit, 2000; Plaznik et al., 1994). Studies measuring the effect of AP7

A summary of NMDA receptor pharmacology in animal models of anxiety.

Drug	Action	Animal model	Species (strain)	Route	Dose range	Effect	Reference
Competition and and a	netion	Aumai model	Species (strain)	Route	Dose range	Lifect	Kelerence
Competitive antagonist	S	EDM (	Det	: - (	2.5	No in the former of the state	Laboration (2000)
AP-5	NMDAR antagonist	EPM EPM	Rat	i.c (amygdala) i.c (ventral hippocampus)	2.5 μg 6 and 24 mmol	No significant effect Anxiolytic	Lenmann et al. (2000) Nascimento Hackl and Carobrez (2007)
		EPM	Rat	i.c (dorsal hippocampus)	6 and 24 mmol	No significant effect	Nascimento Hackl and Carobrez (2007)
		EPM	Rat	i.c (dorsal hippocampus, CA1)	2.0-5.0 μg	No significant effect	Barros et al. (2000)
		EPM	Rat	i.c (BLA)	2.0-5.0 μg	No significant	Barros et al. (2000)
		EPM	Rat	i.c (medial septum)	5 µg	Anxiolytic	Elvander-Tottie et al.
		EPM	Rat	i.c (dorsolateral septum)	5 µg	No significant effect	Menard and Treit (2000)
		EPM	Rat	i.c (dorsal hippocampus)	10.0 nM	Anxiolytic	Padovan et al. (2000)
		SPA	Rat	i.c. (central amygdala)	2.5 µg	Anxiolytic	Lehmann et al. (2000)
		FPS	Rat	i.c (caudal pontine reticular nucleus)	0.125–0.5 nmol	Anxiolytic	Fendt et al. (1996)
		FPS	Rat	i.c (amygdala)	2.5 µg	Anxiolytic	Campeau et al. (1992)
		SIT	Rat	i.c (BLA)	100 pM	Anxiolytic	Sajdyk and Shekhar
		SBP	Rat	i.c (dorsolateral septum)	5 µg	Anxiolytic	(1997b) Menard and Treit
		SPA	Rat	i.c (dorsolateral septum)	5 µg	Anxiolytic	(2000) Menard and Treit
AP-7	NMDAR	EPM	Rat	i.c (PAG)	0.2, 2.0 and	Anxiolytic	(2000) Guimaraes et al. (1991)
	antagonist	FPM	Rat	ic (ventromedial PAG)	20.0 nM 2.0 nM	Anxiolytic	Molchanov and
			Rut		2.0 1111		Guimaraes (2002)
		VCI	Rat	1.C.V	0.5 μg	Anxiolytic	Plaznik et al. (1994)
		VCI	Kat	I.C (PAG)	0.4 µg	Anxiolytic	Guimaraes (2002)
		VCT	Rat	i.c (hippocampus)	0.5 μg	Anxiolytic	Jessa et al. (1995)
		VCT	Rat	i.c (dorsomedial nucleus of hypothalamus)	0.2 and 2.0 nM	No significant effect	Jardim and Guimaraes (2001)
		VCT	Rat	i.c (dorsomedial part of ventromedial hvpothalamus)	0.2 and 2.0 nM	Anxiogenic	Jardim et al. (2005)
		VCT	Rat	I.c.v	0.5 ug	Anxiolvtic	Plaznik et al. (1994)
CGP37849	NMDAR antagonist	VCT	Rat	i.p	1.25–5.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Przegalinski et al. (1996)
		VCT	Rat	i.c (hippocampus)	0.01–1.0 μg	No significant effect	Przegalinski et al. (1996)
		VCT	Rat	i.p	1.0-2.5 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Plaznik et al. (1994)
		VCT	Rat	i.p	2.5 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Jessa et al. (1996)
CGP39551	NMDAR antagonist	VCT	Rat	i.p	5 mg/kg and	Anxiolytic	Plaznik et al. (1994)
LY235959	NMDAR	VCT	Rat	i.c (dlPAG)	4 nmol	Anxiolytic	Tonetto et al. (2009)
NPC 17742	NMDAR	G-S (modified)	Rat	i.p	4.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Willetts et al. (1993)
	antagonist						
Non-competitive antag	onist	CITE.	<b>D</b> .		0.00		0.1.0.15
MK-801 (Dizolcilpine)	NMDAR antagonist	SIT	Rat	i.p	0.03 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Corbett and Dunn (1991)
		SIT	Rat	i.p	0.03 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Corbett and Dunn (1993)
		VCT	Rat	i.p	0.0025 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Jessa et al. (1996)
		VCT	Rat	i.p	0.005 and 0.01 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Plaznik et al. (1994)
		VCT	Rat	i.c (hippocampus)	0.1 and 1.0 µg	Anxiolytic	Jessa et al. (1996)
		VCT	Rat	i.p	0.04, 0.01, or 0.2 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Xie et al. (1995)
Ketamine	NMDAR	EPM	Rat	p.0	7 mg/kg	Anxiogenic	Silvestre et al. (1997)
	antagonist	VCT	Rat	p.o	7 mg/kg	Anxiogenic	Silvestre et al. (1997)
	0	SIT	Rat	p.o	7 mg/kg	Anxiogenic	Silvestre et al. (1997)
Glycine site							
Glycine	Glycine B	VCT	Rat	i.p	>800 mg/kg	No significant	Chojnacka-Wojcik et al.
L-701324	Glycine B	EPM	Rat	p.o	2.5 and 5.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	(1990) Kotlinska and Liljequist
	antagonist	VCT	Rat	p.o	2.5 and 5.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	(1998) Kotlinska and Liljequist
							(1330)

(continued on next page)

Table 2 (continued)

Drug	Action	Animal model	Species (strain)	Route	Dose range	Effect	Reference
5,7- Dichlorokynurenate	Glycine B antagonist	VCT	Rat	i.c.v	5 µg	Anxiolytic	Plaznik et al. (1994)
7-chlorokynurenate	Glycine B antagonist	VCT	Rat	i.c (dorsomedial hypothalamus)	4 nM	Anxiogenic	Jardim and Guimaraes (2004)
MRZ 21576	Glycine B antagonist	VCT	Rat	i.p	2.5-10 mg/kg	No significant effect	Karcz-Kubicha et al. (1997)
L701324	Glycine B antagonist	EPM	Rat	i.p	0.1-10 mg/kg	No significant effect	Karcz-Kubicha et al. (1997)
		VCT	Rat	i.p	0.1-10 mg/kg	No significant effect	Karcz-Kubicha et al. (1997)
ACPC	Glycine B (PAGO)	VCT	Rat	i.p	200 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Przegalinski et al. (1996)
		VCT	Rat	i.p	200 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Chojnacka-Wojcik et al. (1996)
		VCT	Rat	i.c (hippocampus)	3–30 µg	Anxiolytic	Przegalinski et al. (1996)
D-cycloserine	Glycine B (PAGO)	EPM	Rat	i.p	5, 10, or 30 mg/kg	Anxiogenic (in low- anxiety rats)	Ho et al. (2005)
		FPS	Rat	i.p	3.25, 15, or 30 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Walker and Davis (2000)
		FPS	Rat	i.c (amygdala)	10 µg	Anxiolytic	Walker and Davis (2000)
		VCT	Rat	i.p	200 and 300 mg/ kg	Anxiolytic	Klodzinska and Chojnacka-Wojcik (2000)
		FPS	Rat	i.p	30-300 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Anthony and Nevins (1993)
		CCF (reinstatement)	Rat	S.C	15.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Ledgerwood et al. (2004)
		CCF (extiction)	Rat	s.c i.c (BLA)	2.5, 5.0, 10.0, and 15.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Ledgerwood et al. (2003)
		CCF (extinction)	Rat	S.C	15 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Parnas et al. (2005)
		CCF (extinction)	Rat (high and low anxiety rats)	i.p	15 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Lehner et al. (2010)

CCF, cue-conditioned freezing; FPS, fear-potentiated startle; EPM, elevated plus maze; FPS, fear-potentiated startle; FST, forced swim test; GS, Geller–Seifter test; NMDAR antagonist; NMDA receptor antagonist; PAGO, partial agonist; SBP, Shock burying probe; SIT, social interaction test. Route: p.o, per orum; i.p, intraperitoneal; i.c, intracerebral; i.c.v, intracerebroventricular; and s.c, subcutaneous.

injections have demonstrated axiolytic-like properties in the EPM paradigm (Guimaraes et al., 1991; Molchanov and Guimaraes, 2002; Plaznik et al., 1994), or in Vogel Conflict Test (VCT) (Jessa et al., 1995; Molchanov and Guimaraes, 2002), but not when injected in dorsomedial part of ventromedial hypothalamus (Jardim et al., 2005). Other NMDAR competitive antagonist, like NPC 17742 (Willetts et al., 1993), CGP37849 (Jessa et al., 1996; Plaznik et al., 1994; Przegalinski et al., 1996), and CGP39551 (Karcz-Kubicha et al., 1997), may also have anxiolytic-like effects.

Non-competitive NMDAR antagonists have also been extensively studied. In particular, NMDAR non-competitive channel blocker, MK-801 (dizolcipine), may have anxiolytic effects on the EPM (Bertoglio and Carobrez, 2003; Fraser et al., 1996; Karcz-Kubicha et al., 1997; Wieronska et al., 2003), in the SIT (Corbett and Dunn, 1991; Corbett and Dunn, 1993; Dunn et al., 1989b), and in conflict intake studies (Corbett and Dunn, 1993; Jessa et al., 1996; Plaznik et al., 1994; Soderpalm et al., 1995; Xie et al., 1995). Other non-competitive NMDAR antagonists have also exhibited anxiolytic-like effects in rodent models. For example, PCP (phencyclidine) may reduce anxiety on the EPM (Wiley et al., 1995), and in rat conflict intake studies (Porter et al., 1989). The effects of ketamine in the EPM and SIT may be somewhat contradictory, what could be explained by the fact that this drug might exert some of its effects through other receptor classes (Becker et al., 2003; Hayase et al., 2006; Silvestre et al., 1997). The effects of non-competitive NMDAR antagonists seem to be less specific as compared to the effects of competitive NMDAR antagonist (Bergink et al., 2004; Wiley, 1997).

The administration of NMDAR antagonists before or immediately after extinction trials block extinction learning, suggesting NMDAR are involved in acquisition and consolidation of extinction (Kaplan and Moore, 2011). This effect of NMDAR antagonists on fear extinction may be attributable to the disruption of glutamate transmission of sensory information to the amygdala (Davis et al., 2006).

Given the fact that NMDAR antagonists block fear extinction, some studies have examined the effects of NMDAR agonist, D-cycloserine (DCS), on fear extinction. Binding to NMDAR, DCS acts as a partial agonist at the glycine site and enhances receptor efficacy (Norberg et al., 2008). Rats given high doses of DCS (15 and 30 mg/kg) showed a more robust extinction of fear-potentiated startle when tested 24 after the extinction session (Walker and Davis, 2002), suggesting DCS mediates extinction by acting on memory consolidation after such training (Kaplan and Moore, 2011). Long-term facilitation is only seen in animals showing within-session extinction (Langton and Richardson, 2010). Interestingly, DCS does not interfere with the reacquisition of fear learning, but prevents reinstatement of conditioned freezing in rats (Ledgerwood et al., 2004). Though DCS enhances fear extinction learning it does not eliminate the renewal effect nor it alters the context-specificity of the learning, and therefore may not protect against relapse (Kaplan and Moore, 2011).

DCS is most effective when administered immediately before or after fear extinction/exposure therapy, suggesting that the augmenting effects of DCS take place during the period of memory consolidation that occurs after training (Kaplan and Moore, 2011). In animal studies using NMDAR antagonists at various intervals after extinction training, fear extinction occurs in waves lasting 1–2 days after training, a period when hippocampal–neocortical synaptic connections are strengthened (Santini et al., 2001).

The effects of DCS decrease over repeated sessions (i.e., with chronic use). Indeed, DCS is more effective when given a limited

number of times and when administered close to the extinction training session (Norberg et al., 2008). A single acute dose of DCS leads to the greatest effects (Norberg et al., 2008).

Drugs targeting non-NMDA receptors may alter the expression of anxiety-like behavior in animals. While injections of AMPA/Kainate receptor agonist kainic acid into the dorsal portion of the PAG may enhance fear-potentiated startle (FPS) (Fendt, 2000), AMPAR antagonists may have anxiogenic-like activity in studies of unconditioned and conditioned paradigms (Kapus et al., 2008; Kotlinska and Liljequist, 1998; Matheus and Guimaraes, 1997; Menard and Treit, 2000; Sajdyk and Shekhar, 1997b) (see: Table 3).

Metabotropic glutamate receptors may be involved in anxiety (Palucha and Pilc, 2007). Drugs targeting mGluRs are promising agents for the treatment of anxiety-related disorders (Krystal et al., 2010). Several studies have assessed the potential of mGluR ligands in animal models of anxiety (Wieronska and Pilc, 2009). First mGluR modulators were somewhat unselective and did not easily pass blood–brain barrier, but the newer mGluR modulator may have more suitable profiles (Wieronska and Pilc, 2009).

Several mGluR1 antagonists have shown anxiolytic-like effects in animals. For instance, AIDA (Klodzinska et al., 2004), EMQMCM (Pietraszek et al., 2005), JNJ16259685 (Steckler et al., 2005), and LY456236 (Varty et al., 2005) (see: Table 4). Studies carried out with the mGluR2/3 antagonist, LY354740, have shown that this orally active, competitive, and selective drug may have anxiolytic activity in mice and rats in a variety of tests evaluating anxiety-like behaviors, such as EPM, stress-induced hyperthermia (SIH), Geller–Seifter conflict test (GST), Vogel Conflict Test (VCT), and others (Helton et al., 1998; Monn et al., 1997; Wieronska and Pilc, 2009) (see: Table 5).

Negative allosteric modulators of mGluR5, MPEP (Gasparini and Spooren, 2007) and its derivative, MTEP (Busse et al. 2004), have been studied in depth and have shown anxiolytic-like profiles in animal models of anxiety (Klodzinska et al., 2000; Klodzinska et al., 2004; Palucha and Pilc, 2007; Ritzen et al., 2005; Wieronska and Pilc, 2009) (Table 6). Due to its selectiveness and potency, MTEP could be considered a better candidate for clinical use (Busse et al., 2004; Cosford et al., 2003). MTEP may cause less off-target effects than MPEP (which also causes allosteric modulation of mGluR4 and inhibition of the norepinephrine transporter) (Mathiesen et al., 2003; Ritzen et al., 2005; Wieronska and Pilc, 2009).

Some drugs acting over the third class of mGluRs have also been investigated in great detail (Stachowicz et al., 2004, 2006, 2007, 2009; Tatarczynska et al., 2001, 2002) (Table 7). However, to date, most of them are not selective and barely pass the blood–brain barrier (Wieronska and Pilc, 2009). The non-selective agonist of all group III mGluRs, ACPT-1 shows high affinity to mGluR4 and mGluR8 and weak affinity to mGluR7 (Wieronska et al., 2007). Allosteric positive modulator of mGluR7, AMN082, may have anxiolytic-like activity, particularly in the SIH test (Fendt et al., 2008; Julio-Pieper et al., 2010; O'Connor et al., 2010; Siegl et al., 2008; Stachowicz et al., 2008; Ugolini et al., 2008; Wieronska and Pilc, 2009).

#### 4.5. Human studies linking glutamatergic neurotransmission and anxiety

Several lines of evidence from human physiological, genetic, and behavioral studies, suggest that glutamate neurotransmission may play a significant role in the pathogenesis of anxiety-related disorders (Cortese and Phan, 2005). For instance, a significant link between glutamate polymorphisms in the gene coding for NMDAR subtunid NR2B (GRIN2B) (Arnold et al., 2004) and OCD has been published. In particular, a significant positive association between 5072T/G SNP (Single Nucleotid Polymorphism located in the 3' untranslated region of GRIN2B), and both ODC diagnosis and symptom severity has been reported. Biochemical studies have also revealed a possible connection between glutamate and anxiety disorders. Thus, psychotropic drug-naïve ODC patients show higher cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) glutamate levels compared to controls (Chakrabarty et al., 2005). Although, no significant correlation between ODC severity and CSF glutamate levels has been detected (Bhattacharyya et al., 2009; Chakrabarty et al., 2005).

Given the fact that ionotropic glutamate receptors could possibly mediate fear-related memory formation and that NMDAR antagonists block fear extinction, many clinical trials have assessed the potential efficacy of drugs targeting glutamate neurotransmission in anxietyrelated disorders (Cortese and Phan, 2005; Krystal et al., 2010). These drugs could potentially enhance the extinction or interfere with the reconsolidation of fear-related memories (Krystal et al., 2010).

Unfortunately, NMDAR non-competitive antagonists phencyclidine (PCP) or Ketamine can elicit behavioral disturbances and

Table 3

A summary of AMPA/kainate	receptor pharmacology	in animal	models of anxiety.
---------------------------	-----------------------	-----------	--------------------

Drug	Action	Animal	Species	Route	Dose range	Effect	Reference
		model					
CNQX	AMPAR antagonist	EPM	Rat	i.c (BLA)	50 pM	Anxiolytic	Sajdyk and Shekhar (1997b)
		EPM	Rat	i.c (PAG)	1.0 and 3.0 nM	Anxiolytic	Matheus and Guimaraes (1997)
		EPM	Rat	i.c (dorsolateral septum)	5 µg	Anxiolytic	Menard and Treit (2000)
		VCT	Rat	i.p	0.05–5 mg/kg	No significant effect	Czlonkowska et al. (1997)
		SPA	Rat	i.c (dorsolateral septum)	5 µg	Anxiolytic	Menard and Treit (2000)
		SPB	Rat	i.c (dorsolateral septum)	5 µg	No significant effect	Menard and Treit (2000)
NBQX	AMPAR antagonist	EPM	Rat	i.c (dorsal hippocampus, CA1)	0.4 or 1.0 μg	No significant effect	Barros et al. (2000)
		EPM	Rat	i.c (BLA)	0.4 or 1.0 μg	No significant effect	Barros et al. (2000)
		VCT	Rat	i.p	0.1–5 mg/kg	No significant effect	Czlonkowska et al. (1997)
		VCT	Rat	i.p	3 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Kapus et al. (2008)
		FPS	Rat	i.c (dlPAG)	0, 50, and 100 nmol	Anxiogenic	Fendt (2000) Fendt (2000)
LY326325	AMPAR antagonist	VCT	Rat	i.p	2.5-5.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Kotlinska and Liljequist (1998)
Piracetam	AMPAR positive modulator	VCT	Rat	p.o	500 mg/kg/day (14 days)	Anxiolytic	Bhattacharyya et al. (1993)
Kainic acid	AMPAR/KAR agonist	FPS	Rat	i.c (dlPAG)	15 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Fendt (2000)
Topiramate	AMPA/KAR agonist	ASP	Rat	p.o	10 mg/kg or 30 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Khan and Liberzon (2004)

AMPAR antagonist, AMPA receptor antagonist; ASP, acoustic startle paradigm; FPS, fear-potentiated startle; EPM, elevated plus maze; FPS, fear-potentiated startle; SBP, Shock burying probe; SPA, shock-probe avoidance. Route: p.o, per orum; i.p, intraperitoneal; i.c, intracerebral; i.c.v, intracerebroventricular; and s.c, subcutaneous.

Pharmacology of mGluR1 and anxiety.

Drug	Action	Animal model	Species	Route	Dose range	Effect	Reference
AIDA	mGluR1 antagonist (competitive)	EPM	Rat	i.p	0.5 and 2.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Klodzinska et al. (2004)
		VCT	Rat	i.p	1.2 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Klodzinska et al. (2004)
		4PT	Mouse	i.p	0.5, 8.0 mg/ kg	No significant effect	Klodzinska et al. (2004)
CPCCOEt	Non-comptetitive mGluR1 $\alpha$ antagonist	VCT	Rat	i.c (hippocampus)	5 and 15 µg	Anxiolytic	Tatarczynska et al. (2001b)
EMQMCM	mGluR1 antagonist	G-S	Rat	i.p	0.6 and 5.0 mg/kg	No significant effect	Pietraszek et al. (2005)
		EPM	Rat	i.p	0.6 and 5.0 mg/kg	No significant effect	Pietraszek et al. (2005)
		FPS	Rat	i.p	5.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Pietraszek et al. (2005)
		CFC	Rat	i.p	0.6 and 5.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Pietraszek et al. (2005)
JNJ16259685	mGluR1 antagonist	EPM	Rat	i.p	2.5–10.0 mg/	No significant effect	Steckler et al. (2005)
		VCT	Rat	i.p	2.5-10.0 mg/ kg	Anxiolytic	Steckler et al. (2005)
LY456236	mGluR1 antagonist	VCT	Rat	i.p	10 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Varty et al. (2005)
		CLS	Rat	i.p	30 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Varty et al. (2005)
		SIH	Mouse	i.p	10.0 and 30 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Rorick-Kehn et al.
MCPG	mGluR antagonist	EPM	Rat	i.c (dorsal hippocampus CA1)	0.5 and 2.5 ug	No significant effect	Barros et al. (2000)
		EPM	Rat	i.c (BLA)	0.5 and 2.5 µg	No significant effect	Barros et al. (2000)
Riluzole	Glutamate release inhibitor	CER	Rat	no	10 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Mirza et al. (2005)
S4CPG	mGluR I comptetitive antagonist (specially mGluR1 $\alpha$ )	VCT	Rat	i.c (hippocampus)	10 and 20 µg	Anxiolytic	Tatarczynska et al. (2001)
Trans-ACPD	Non-selective mGluR I/II agonist	FPS	Rat	i.c (central amygdala)	30 nM	Anxiogenic	Koch (1993)
3HPG	mGluR I agonist	EPM	Rat	i.c (hippocampus, CA1)	0.022 µg 0.066 µg 0.2 µg	No significant effect	Szapiro et al. (2001)
		1-trial inhibitory avoidance and contextual fear	Rat	i.c (hippocampus, CA1)	0.022 μg 0.066 μg 0.2 μg	Anxiolytic	Szapiro et al. (2001)

CCF, cue-conditioned freezing; CER, conditioned emotional response; CFC, contextual fear conditioning; CLS, conditioned lick suppression test; EPM, elevated plus maze; FPS, fearpotentiated startle; FST, forced swim test; GS, Geller–Seifter test; VCT, Vogel Conflict Test; 4PT, 4-plate test. Route: p.o, per orum; i.p, intraperitoneal; i.c, intracerebral; i.c.v, intracerebroventricular; and s.c, subcutaneous.

perceptual abnormalities (depersonalization, derealization, visual and auditory hallucinations), which partially resemble some of the symptoms seen in patients suffering from PTSD (Chambers et al., 1999; Krystal et al., 1994). Non-competitive NMDAR antagonists can also produce serious adverse effects (convulsions, sedation), which limit the use of these drugs in the clinical context. Ketamine's behavioral effects could be explained by the dense cortical localization of NMDARs (Bergink et al., 2004). Ketamine's primary mechanism of action is blocking NMDAR at the PCP site within the ionotropic channel. Ketamine has a high affinity for the NMDAR, with slow openchannel blocking/unblocking kinetics, and a specific type of channel closure (called "trapping block"). Simultaneously, ketamine induces a robust presynaptic release of glutamate by increasing the firing rate of glutamatergic neurons (Moghaddam et al., 1997).

The risks associated with the use of NMDAR antagonists, like ketamine, hindered clinical research with these drugs. The aim of any pharmacological intervention targeting glutamate neurotransmission in anxiety-related disorders would be that excessive glutamate exposure in specific fear-related areas be blocked, whereas normal glutamatergic neurotransmission should be kept unaffected. Consequently, direct inhibition or activation of the glutamate system may not be a good approach. New ways of fine-tuning the glutamatergic system are now emerging, such as modulation of glycine site, compounds targeting AMPAR, and metabotropic modulators (Bergink et al., 2004).

Accordingly, the glycine-site partial agonist, D-cycloserine (DCS), could potentially have a beneficial role in the extinction of fear in human patients suffering PTSD, phobias, OCD, and panic disorder (Otto et al., 2010; Richardson et al., 2004). Given the fact that some of the available behavioral therapies for anxiety are based on fear extinction (Guastella et al., 2007; Langton and Richardson, 2009; Langton and Richardson, 2010; McCallum et al., 2010), it would be of great interest to assess whether or not DCS may have the ability to increase the speed and efficiency of exposure-based therapies (Norberg et al., 2008).

The glycine site partial agonist, DCS has complex modulatory effects at NMDAR. When local glycine levels are enough to saturate glycine B sites, DCS may reduce NMDAR activity as much as 40%–50% (Emmett et al., 1991; Norberg et al., 2008). Moreover, DCS indirectly increases glutamatergic activity in previously "silent" synapses (Gomperts et al., 1998). DCS may improve the efficacy of exposure-based psychotherapies by enhancing fear extinction, interfering with NMDA-dependent (re)consolidation of fear memories, and by enhancing neuroplasticity (Krystal, 2007; Norberg et al., 2008).

Thus, much attention is now being paid to the potential utility of DCS for the treatment of anxiety-related disorders (Norberg et al., 2008). Treatment with DCS resulted in a significant improvement in anxiety symptoms of patients suffering from chronic PTSD (Heresco-Levy et al., 2002, 2009). In a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study (Ressler et al., 2004), patients suffering from acrophobia were exposed to virtually-generated heights and received

Table	5
-------	---

Pharmacology of mGluR2/3 and anxiety.

Drug	Action	Animal model	Species	Route	Dose range	Effect	Reference
BINA	mGluR2/3 agonist	EPM	Rat	i.p	10.0-32.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Galici et al. (2005)
		SIH	Mouse	i.p	32.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Galici et al. (2005)
CBiPES	mGluR2/3 agonist	SIH	Mouse	S.C	100.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Johnson et al. (2005)
LCCG-1	mGluR2/3 agonist	EPM	Rat	i.c (dorsal	60 nM	No significant effect	Smialowska et al. (2007)
				hippocampus)			. ,
LY354740	mGluR2/3 agonist	EPM	Rat	p.o	3.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Helton et al. (1998)
		EPM	Mouse	p.o	1.0-10.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Monn et al. (1997)
		EPM	Mouse	S.C	20 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Linden et al. (2004)
		G–S	Pigeon	i.m	0.001-1.0 mg/kg	No significant effect	Benvenga et al. (1999)
		FPS	Rat	p.o	1.0-10.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Helton et al. (1998)
		FPS	Rat	p.o	20 and 200 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Grillon et al. (2003)
		FPS	Human	p.o	20.0-200.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Grillon et al. (2003)
		FPS	Rat	i.c (amygdala)	0.3	Anxiolytic	Walker et al. (2002)
		CO <sub>2</sub> -challenge panic	Rat	p.o	3.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Schoepp et al. (2003)
		VCT	Rat	i.p	0.5-1.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Klodzinska et al. (1999)
		4PT	Mouse	i.p	4.0-8.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Klodzinska et al. (1999)
		Lactate-induced panic	Rat	i.p	0.3-0.6 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Shekhar and Keim (2000)
		Yohimbine-induced	Macaca radiate	p.o	1.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Coplan et al. (2001)
		anxiety					
		CO <sub>2</sub> -induced panic	Human	p.o	200.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Schoepp et al. (2003)
		Panic disorder	Human	p.o	100.0-200.0 mg/kg	No significant effect	Bergink and Westenberg (2005)
LY314582	mGluR2/3 agonist	SIH	Mouse	p.o	1.0-10.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Spooren et al. (2002)
LY544344	mGluR2/3 agonist	FPS	Rat	p.o	0.01-0.1 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Bueno et al. (2005)
		SIH	Mouse	p.o	30.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Rorick-Kehn et al. (2006)
		CCK-4-induced panic	Human	p.o	20.0-80.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic/anxiogenic	Kellner et al. (2005)
		CCK-4 challenge panic	Rat	p.o	80 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Kellner et al. (2005)
LY487379	mGluR2/3 agonist	FPS	Rat	i.p	3.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Johnson et al. (2005)
		FPS	Rat	S.C	0.1-1.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Johnson et al. (2005)
LY341495	mGluR2/3 antagonist	MBT	Mouse	i.p	1.0-10.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Shimazaki et al. (2004)
		SIH	Mouse	i.p	1.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	lijima et al. (2007)
		FPS	Rat	i.p	1.0 mg/kg	No significant effect	Tizzano et al. (2002)
		EPM	Mouse	i.p	3.0-6.0 mg/kg	Anxiogenic	Linden et al. (2005)
		EPM	Mouse	i.p	1.0 mg/kg	No significant effect	Linden et al. (2005)
L-SOP	mGluR2/3 agonist	EPM	Rat	i.c (dorsal	520 nM	Anxiolytic	Smialowska et al. (2007)
				hippocampus)			
MGS0039	mGluR2/3 antagonist	MBT	Mouse	i.p	3.0-10.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Shimazaki et al. (2004)
		CFS	Rat	i.p	2.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Yoshimizu et al. (2006)
		SIH	Mouse	i.p	1.0-3.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	lijima et al. (2007)
		EPM	Mouse	i.p	1.0 mg/kg	Anxiogenic	Chaki et al. (2004)
4-APPES	mGluR2/3 agonist	FPS	Rat	S.C	0.1 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Johnson et al. (2005)

CFC, contextual fear conditioning; EPM, elevated plus maze; FPS, fear-potentiated startle; GS, Geller–Seifter test; MPT, Marble burying test; SBP, Shock burying probe; SIH, shockinduced hyperthermia; SIT, social interaction test; 4PT, 4-plate test. Route: p.o, per orum; i.p, intraperitoneal; i.c, intracerebral; i.c.v, intracerebroventricular; and s.c, subcutaneous.

either oral DCS or placebo. Patients receiving DCS treatment showed significant reductions in acrophobia symptoms compared to the placebo group; this improvement lasted for at least 3 months (Ressler et al., 2004). The administration of DCS (50 mg, p.o) before extinction therapy has demonstrated to enhance treatment outcomes for social anxiety disorder in a randomized controlled trial (Guastella et al., 2008).

Acute administration of DCS may enhance amygdala-dependent fear extinction both in animals and humans (Banasr et al., 2010; Davis et al., 2006; Hofmann et al., 2006; Norberg et al., 2008; Otto et al., 2010; Ressler et al., 2004). A recent study carried out with functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) scanning assessed the mechanisms by which DCS administration may be useful in exposure therapy in humans suffering from spider phobia; 23 spider-phobic and 23 non-phobic participants were randomized to DCS 100 mg or placebo. During scanning, participants viewed spider, butterfly, and Gaussian-blurred baseline images in a block-design paradigm. In the phobic group, DCS enhanced prefrontal (PFC), dorsal anterior cingulate (ACC), and insula activations, while DCS enhanced ventral ACC and caudate activations in the control group. Interestingly, reported distress during provocation was correlated with amygdala activation in those phobic individuals that were on placebo, but phobics receiving DCS showed significant orbitofrontal cortex activation. These results may suggest that during initial phobic symptom provocation DCS may activate brain regions involved in cognitive control and interoceptive integration, including the ACC, PFC, and insula (Aupperle et al., 2009). Another fMRI study evaluated how DCS may modify amygdala activity during the processing of repeated facial expressions. Fourteen healthy males were randomly assigned to DCS 500 mg or placebo prior to functional magnetic resonance imaging acquisition, and were exposed to 4 separate runs, consisting of a single block of a repeated facial expression (happy or fearful) bracketed by fixation blocks. Anatomic analyses showed that, while individuals on placebo exhibited significant amygdala activation and response habituation, those that had previously received DCS showed blunted amygdala responses to emotional faces across the experiment (Britton et al., 2007).

The non-competitive NMDAR antagonist, memantine, which is being currently used as a memory-enhancing drug in patients suffering moderate to severe Alzheimer's disease (Cortese and Phan, 2005), has also shown anxiolytic effects. As glutamatergic corticostriato–thalamo– cortical over-activity may be involved in OCD, some authors have assessed the potential efficacy of this drug for the treatment of OCD (Zdanys and Tampi, 2008). Two case reports have investigated the use of memantine (5–15 mg/day, p.o) in treatment-resistant OCD (Pasquini and Biondi, 2006; Poyurovsky et al., 2005), with apparently favorable

Pharmacology of mGluR5 in anxiety.

Drug	Action	Animal model	Species (strain)	Route	Dose range	Effect	Reference
Fenobam	Non-competitive mGluR5 antagonist	G–S VCT	Rat Rat	p.o p.o	10.0–30.0 mg/kg 10.0–30.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic Anxiolytic	Porter et al. (2005) Porter et al. (2005)
		SIH	Rat	p.o	10.0-30.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Porter et al. (2005)
MPEP	mGluR5 antagonist	EPM	Rat	p.o	0.1 and 1.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Spooren et al. (2000)
		EPM	Rat	i.p	3.0 and 10.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Tatarczynska et al. (2001)
		EPM	Rat	i.p	10.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Wieronska et al. (2004)
		EPM	Rat	i.c (amygdala)	8.0 nM	Anxiolytic	Perez de la et al. (2006)
		G–S	Rat	p.o	10.0–30.0 mg/kg	No significant effect	Spooren et al. (2000)
		G–S	Rat	i.p	30.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Brodkin et al. (2002a,b)
		G-s	Rat	i.p	3.0 and 10.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Busse et al. (2004)
		G–S	Rat	p.o	10.0-30.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Ballard et al. (2005)
		G–S	Rat	i.p	1.0 and 3.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Pietraszek et al. (2005)
		G–S VCT	Rat	p.o	10.0-30.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Ballard et al. (2005)
		VCT	Rat	i.p	2.5 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Steckler et al. (2005)
		VCT	Rat	i.p	1.0 and 10.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Klodzinska et al. (2000)
		VCT	Rat	i.p	1.0 and 10.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Tatarczynska et al. (2001)
		VCT	Rat	i.p	1.0 and 10.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Pilc et al. (2002)
		VCT	Rat	i.p	3.0-10.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Varty et al. (2005)
		VCT	Rat	p.o	10.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Buttelmann et al. (2006)
		FPS	Rat	p.o	30.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Schulz et al. (2001)
		FPS	Rat	p.o	10.0 and 30.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Brodkin et al. (2002a,b)
		FPS	Rat	p.o	5.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Cosford et al. (2003)
		CLS	Rat	i.p	3.0 and 10.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Varty et al. (2005)
		CER	Rat	p.o	10.0-30.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Ballard et al. (2005)
		SE	Rat	p.o	0.3 and 1.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Spooren et al. (2000)
		USV	Rat	i.p	10.0 and 30.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Brodkin et al. (2002a,b)
		USV	Rat	i.p	1.0 and 10.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	lijima and Chaki (2005)
		SIH	Mouse	p.o	15.0 and 30.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Spooren et al. (2000)
		SIH	Mouse	i.p	10.0 and 30.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Rorick-Kehn et al. (2005)
		MBT	Mouse	p.o	7.0 and 30.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Spooren et al. (2000)
		4PT	Mouse	i.p	30.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Tatarczynska et al. (2001)
		LDET	Rat	i.c (amygdala)	2.0 nM	Anxiolytic	Perez de la et al. (2006)
		SPB	Rat	i.c (amygdala)	8.0 nM	Anxiolytic	Perez de la et al. (2006)
MTEP	mGluR5 antagonist	EPM	Rat	i.p	0.3, 1.0 and 3.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Klodzinska et al. (2004)
		EPM	Rat	i.p	0.6 and 5.0 mg/kg	No significant effect	Pietraszek et al. (2005)
		EPM	Rat	i.c (lateral septal nuclei)	5.0 and 10.0 μg/μl	Anxiolytic	Molina-Hernandez et al. (2006)
		EPM	Rat	i.p	5.0 and 10.0 µg	Anxiolytic	Molina-Hernandez et al. (2006)
		G–S	Rat	i.p	3.0-10.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Busse et al. (2004)
		G–S	Rat	i.p	3.0–10.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Pietraszek et al. (2005)
		CFS	Rat	i.p	1.25 and 2.5 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Pietraszek et al. (2005)
		CLS	Rat	i.p	3.0-10.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Varty et al. (2005)
		VCT	Rat	i.p	0.1 and 3.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Klodzinska et al. (2004)
		VCT	Rat	i.p	3.0-10.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Varty et al. (2005)
		FPS	Rat	i.p	2.5 and 5.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Pietraszek et al. (2005)
		FPS	Rat	i.p	0.3 and 3.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Cosford et al. (2003)
		FPS	Rat	i.p	3.0-10.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Busse et al. (2004)
		4PT	Mouse	i.p	0.3-3.0 mg/kg	Anxiolytic	Klodzinska et al. (2004)

CCK-4, cholecystokinin tetrapeptide; CER, conditioned emotional response; CFC, contextual fear conditioning; CLS; conditioned lick suppression test; EPM, elevated plus maze; FPS, fear-potentiated startle; GS, Geller–Seifter test; LDET, light–dark exploration test; MPT, Marble burying test; SBP, Shock burying probe; SIH, shock-induced hyperthermia; SIT, social interaction test; USV, ultrasonic vocalizations; VCT, Vogel Conflict Test; 4PT, 4-plate test. Route: p.o, per orum; i.p, intraperitoneal; i.c, intracerebral; i.c.v, intracerebroventricular; and s.c, subcutaneous.

outcomes. However, no controlled trials of glutamatergic augmenting agents have been reported to date. A recent single-blinded case-control study (Stewart et al., 2010), evaluating the efficacy of memantine augmentation treatment in patients suffering severe OCD, found a significant decrease in the Yale-Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale score among patients receiving memantine adjunctive therapy. Another study by Aboujaoude group (Aboujaoude et al., 2009) examined the effect of memantine augmentation on severe ODC patients who had failed to respond to treatment with a serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs). Although, almost half the subjects had a meaningful improvement in symptoms (assessed with Y-BOCS scores), the study was limited by its relatively small sample size, and by significant baseline differences among groups regards severity of illness and previous SSRI treatment responses. Although, these studies provide promising results for the effectiveness of memantine augmentation strategy in severe OCD, randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trials are needed (Stewart et al., 2010). Similar results have also been achieved by another recent study (Feusner et al., 2009), in which memantine showed preferential efficacy in the treatment of OCD over GAD. A pilot trial on memantine in PTSD produced consistent

Table	7
-------	---

Pharmacology of group III mGlu receptor ligands in anxiety.

Drug	Action	Animal model	Species (strain)	Route	Dose range	Effect	Reference
ACPT-1	mGluR4/6/7/8 agonist	EPM VCT	Rat Rat	i.c (amygdala) i.c (hippocampus) i.c.v	10 µg 1.875, 3.75 and 7.5 nmol	Anxiolytic Anxiolytic	Wieronska et al. (2005) Tatarczynska et al. (2002)
		VCT	Rat	i.c (hippocampus)	7.5 and 15 nmol	Anxiolytic	Palucha et al. (2004)
		VCT	Rat	i.c (amygdala)	7.5 nmol	No significant effect	Stachowicz et al. (2007)
CPPG	mGluR4/7/8 antagonist	VCT	Rat	i.c (amygdala)	75 nmol	Anxiolytic	Stachowicz et al. (2007)
CPPG+ACPT-I	mGluR4/7/8 antagonist/agonist	VCT	Rat	i.c (amygdala)	7.5 nmol	No significant effect	Stachowicz et al. (2007)
CPPG+Metergoline	mGluR4/7/8 antagonist+5-HTR antagonist	VCT	Rat	i.p	2 mg/kg	No significant effect	Stachowicz et al. (2007)
CPPG+ritanserin	mGluR4/7/8 antagonist +5-HT2A/C antagonist	VCT	Rat	i.p	0.5 mg/kg	No significant effect	Stachowicz et al. (2007)
L-AP4	mGluR4/7/8 agonist	VCT	Rat	i.c (hippocampus)	0.22, 0.66 or 2.0 μM	No significant effect	Szapiro et al. (2001)
L-SOP	mGluR4/7/8 agonist	VCT	Rat	i.c (hippocampus)	100 µg	Anxiolytic	Tatarczynska et al. (2001)
MSOP	mGluR4/7/8 antagonist	VCT	Rat	i.c (hippocampus)		Anxiolytic	Chojnacka-Wojcik et al. (1997)
PHCCC	mGluR4 antagonist	VCT	Rat	i.c (hippocampus)	12 nmol	Anxiolytic	Stachowicz et al. (2006)
		VCT	Rat	i.c (BLA)	3.125 and 6.25	Anxiolytic	Stachowicz et al. (2004)
(S)-3,4-DCPG	mGluR8 agonist	VCT	Rat	i.c (BLA)	10, 50 and 100 nmol	No significant effect	Stachowicz et al. (2005)
		VCT	Rat	i.c (hippocampus)	10, 50 and 100 nmol	No significant effect	Stachowicz et al. (2005)

ACPT-I: (S,3R,4S)-1-aminocyclo-pentane-1,3,4-tricarboxylic acid; CPPG: alpha-cyclopropyl-4-phosphonophenylglycine; EPM, elevated plus maze; L-SOP: L-serine-O-phosphate; PHCCC: (-)-N-phenyl-7-(hydroxyimino) cyclopropa[b]chromen-1<sup>a</sup>; (S)-3,4-DCPG, (S)-3,4-dicarboxyphenylglycine ((S)-3,4-DCPG); VCT, Vogel Conflict Test. Route: p.o, per orum; i.p, intraperitoneal; i.c, intracerebral; i.c.v, intracerebroventricular; and s.c, subcutaneous.

improvement on a delayed recall measure of memory, variable reduction of depressive symptoms, and variable reduction in hyperarousal symptoms (Battista et al., 2007).

The beneficial effects of DCS in anxiety disorders contrast with findings from the use of DCS as a corrective treatment for neurocognitive deficits in schizophrenia and Alzheimer's disease. In the treatment of schizophrenia and Alzheimer's disease, DCS has been applied in chronic daily doses, unlike the extinction-augmenting applications used in treatments of conditioned fear. Isolated dosing might be more effectively than chronic dosing for specific learningbased purposes, consistent with the demonstration of desensitization of the NMDAR in cell culture with prolonged exposure to DCS and other glycine ligands (Norberg et al., 2008).

DCS is most effective when administered immediately before or after fear extinction/exposure therapy, suggesting that the fearextinction facilitatory effects of DCS take place during the period of memory consolidation that occurs after training. One potential benefit of administering DCS immediately after exposure therapy sessions is the possibility for the clinician to administer DCS only after those sessions in which within-session extinction has occurred, consistently with animal studies showing that DCS leads to long-term gains only for animals exhibiting within-session extinction (Langton and Richardson, 2010; Norberg et al., 2008). This selective administration may also reduce the chance of tolerance due to chronic administration (Norberg et al., 2008). According to the literature, the effects of DCS augmentation do not disappear upon treatment discontinuation, what could represent potential improvement over existing pharmacological therapy augmentation strategies (Norberg et al., 2008).

Riluzole, a drug that reduces glutamate release and consequently increase the expression of glutamate receptors, may also be effective in the treatment of mood and anxiety disorders. In particular, patients diagnosed for GAD underwent a significant decrease in anxiety sensitivity and ruminative worry after treatment with riluzole (100 mg/day) (Mathew et al., 2005, 2008; Pittenger et al., 2008). Remission (assessed with a Hamilton Anxiety Scale score <7) was achieved in 53% of GAD patients, with rapid onset of action, and tolerability. Riluzole augmentation was well-tolerated and efficacious in treatment-resistant OCD in open-label trials both in adults (Coric et al., 2005) and in children (Grant et al., 2007).

Antiepileptic drugs, with some activity over ionotropic glutamate receptors, such as lamotrigine (Hertzberg et al., 1999), topiramate (Berlant and van Kammen, 2002; Berlant, 2004), and tiagabine (Connor et al., 2006; Davidson et al., 2007), have shown to be effective in double-blind, placebo-controlled trials for PTSD (Berlin, 2007). Other antiepileptic drugs, such as carbamazepine, valproate, gabapentin, vigabatrin, phenytoin, and levetiracetam, have achieved promising results in open-label trials (Berlin, 2007). The anticonvulsivant drug, phenytoin, which may reduce glutamate and increase GABA neurotransmission (Cortese and Phan, 2005), has showed significant efficacy in the treatment of accident-related, early abuse, and combat PTSD in a, by reducing avoidance, intrusions, and arousal symptoms (Bremner et al., 2005; Douglas et al., 2004). Interestingly, such effects may last for at least 3 months. Possibly, stress-activated limbic kindling may be involved in the pathogenesis of PTSD (Berlin, 2007). In addition, topiramate, which also modulates glutamatergic and GABA neurotransmission, has demonstrated efficacy in the treatment of social phobia (Van et al., 2004).

In the last years, detailed knowledge about the involvement of mGluRs in anxiety and stress-related disorders has been gathered (Palucha and Pilc, 2007). A growing amount of studies evaluating the effects of mGluR ligands both in animals (see: Tables 4–7) and humans have been published. Drugs acting at group I and group III mGluRs are in the early phases of clinical trials for the treatment of anxiety disorders (Krystal et al., 2010). Animal models had previously demonstrated that mGluR5 antagonists might reduce anxiety (Ballard et al., 2005; Busse et al., 2004; Jaeschke et al., 2007; Porter et al., 2005). Potent and selective mGluR5 antagonist, fenobam, acts at allosteric modulatory site shared with MPEP. Fenobam is an atypical anxiolytic

agent that has demonstrated to exert a robust anxiolytic activity both in rodents and human (in which a double-blinded trial has been published) (Porter et al., 2005).

Allosteric modulators of mGluR2/3 may have a promising role for the treatment of anxiety disorders (Krystal et al., 2010). Anxiolytic effects of LY354740 have been observed using the human fearpotentiated startle paradigm in healthy volunteers (Grillon et al., 2003). LY354740 administration was associated with a reduction in the self-reported level of anxiety, and a significant decrease in fearpotentiated startle to shock anticipation (Grillon et al., 2003). Moreover, LY354740 has displayed anxiolytic effects preventing CO<sub>2</sub>-induced panic attacks in patients that had been previously diagnosed of panic disorder (Bergink and Westenberg, 2005).

The efficacy of LY354740 as an axiolytic has been assessed on a number of clinical trials. A double-blind placebo-controlled randomized study with paroxetine (60 mg) as an active comparator evaluated the efficacy of LY354740 (100 or 200 mg) in outpatients suffering panic disorder (Bergink and Westenberg, 2005). LY354740 was well tolerated (gastrointestinal complaints were the most common side-effects) but failed to show significant differences in efficacy from placebo.

LY544344, a peptidyl modified derivative from LY354740, with a better absorption profile, may also have anxiolytic activity in humans (Krystal et al., 2010). In fact, LY544344 administration led to a significant decrease in cholecystokinin tetrapeptide-induced subjective anxiety rating and panic symptoms in health volunteers (Kellner et al., 2005). Twelve healthy human volunteers were administered LY544344 (80 mg p.o) for 1 week in a randomized placebo-controlled cross-over study before 50 mg cholecystokinin tetrapeptide (CCK-4) was injected intravenously. CCK-induced panic and anxiety symptoms and stress hormone release were measured. A significant reduction in the number of CCK-4-induced panic symptoms and of CCK-4-induced subjective anxiety ratings were detected when subjects with no CCK-4-elicited adrenocorticotropin (ACTH) release were not included in the statistical analysis (Chakrabarty et al., 2005; Kellner et al., 2005).

LY544344 seems a promising drug to treat anxiety disorders (Dunayevich et al., 2008). A double-blind, placebo-controlled, 8-week study was designed to evaluate the efficacy, safety, and tolerability of LY544344 in the treatment of GAD (Dunayevich et al., 2008). Patients were randomized to double-blind treatment with LY544344 16 mg b. i.d. (n=28), LY544344 8 mg b.i.d. (n=36), or placebo (n=44). LY544344 16 mg b.i.d.-treated patients showed significantly greater improvement from baseline in Hamilton Anxiety and Clinical Global Impression-Improvement scores, as well as response and remission rates compared with placebo-treated patients. Despite the fact that LY544344 was well tolerated and there were no significant differences in the incidence of adverse events among the three groups, this trial was discontinued due to the occurrence of convulsions in preclinical studies (Krystal et al., 2010).

The safety profile of new mGluR modulators has been assessed (Palucha and Pilc, 2007). Possible effects of mGluR modulators on motor coordination or locomotor activity, could confound the interpretation of behavioral data. Unlike benzodiazepines, mGluR1 antagonists are not likely to produce motor disturbances. However, learning deficits and disruption of prepulse inhibition (PPI), similar to that seen in schizophrenia, has been observed in mice lacking mGluR1. So it might be speculated that mGluR1 antagonists could lead to psychotomimetic effects, which seems unlikely with EMQMCM. Compared to benzodiazepines, fenobam may be free of such adverse effects as muscle relaxation, sedation, and potentially dangerous interactions with alcohol. However, trials with fenobam were discontinued due to psychostimulant adverse effects in some patients, what could be attributable to "off-target" activity, perhaps on the dopamine transporter (Palucha and Pilc, 2007). Both MTEP and MPEP may have a narrow therapeutic window. Although, mGluR5 antagonists lack the adverse effects seen with benzodiazepines, multiple MTEP and MPEP administration, when applied at higher doses (3 mg/kg) may lead to tolerance to anxiolytic action. Dysphoric effects with MPEP, due to its effects on brain reward function, and possible adverse effects on learning, working memory and spatial learning, have also been described (Palucha and Pilc, 2007). Future studies should assess the safety profiles of these new drugs in more depth.

In conclusion, this findings support the potential efficacy of drugs targeting ionotropic and metabotropic glutamate receptors for the treatment of anxiety disorders. These drugs could potentially enhance the extinction or interfere with the reconsolidation of fear-related memory processes. Additional studies, however, are necessary in order to investigate in depth the efficacy and tolerability of these novel drugs.

#### 5. Polyamines, stress and glutamate

Due to the fact that ionotropic glutamate receptors have been involved in the biological mechanisms related to fear conditioning and anxiety disorders, much attention is now being paid to those molecular factors that could potentially modulate glutamatergic neurotransmission. A growing interest in naturally modulating polyamines has recently emerged. In the last decades, several authors have investigated the role of polyamines in the pathogenesis of some neuropsychiatric disorders, in particular, stress-related conditions (Vaquero-Lorenzo et al., 2008) and suicidal behavior (Chen et al., 2010; Klempan et al., 2009).

The next section will take the reader through the basic aspects of polyamine metabolism, how polyamines modulate NMDAR, AMPAR, and KARs, and finally the links between polyamines and anxietyrelated conditions.

#### 5.1. Polyamines and their metabolism

Natural polyamines (putrescine, spermidine, spermine, cadaverine, and agmatine) are low molecular weight water-soluble aliphatic molecules widely distributed throughout procariot and eucariot species (Moinard et al., 2005). Polyamines have been involved in many physiological functions, such as cell growth and proliferation, apoptosis, synthesis of nucleic acids and proteins, immunity, and control of gut function and nutritional status (Riaza Bermudo-Soriano et al., 2009).

At physiological pH, polyamine primary and secondary amino groups are fully protonated, what makes putrescine, spermidine and spermine act as divalent, trivalent or tetravalent cations, respectively (Seiler et al., 1996). Due to their cationic nature, polyamines can establish electrostatic interactions with anionic charges present in many common macromolecules such as phospholipids, nucleic acids, and proteins (including some types of receptors) (Moinard et al., 2005). The fact that cationic charges on polyamines are distributed at fixed distances with methylen moieties between them, makes natural polyamines establish interactions with other molecules more specifically that many inorganic cations (Davis et al., 1992; Igarashi and Kashiwagi, 2000; Kilpeläinen, 2002; Marton and Pegg, 1995; Thomas and Thomas, 2001).

Polyamine's synthesis and catabolism are strictly regulated in order to control its cellular levels (Moinard et al., 2005). Natural polyamines are synthesized from amino acids ornithine and methionine (Davis et al., 1992; Marton and Pegg, 1995; Morgan, 1999). First, ornithine is irreversibly converted to putrescine in a reaction that is catalyzed by the rate-limitant enzyme ornithine-decarboxylase (ODC, EC 4.1.1.17). Subsequently, spermidine and spermine are synthesized by the consecutive addition of amino-propyl moieties (Moinard et al., 2005).

Polyamine catabolism is mainly regulated by the rate-limitant enzyme acetyl-CoA spermidine/spermine-N<sup>1</sup>-acetyl-transferase

(SSAT-1, EC 2.3.1.57) (Moinard et al., 2005; Seiler, 2004; Vujcic et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2001; Wang and Casero, 2006).

#### 5.2. Polyamines and neuropsychiatric disorders

A growing body of evidence suggest that polyamine metabolism may be disrupted in several mental disorders (Fiori and Turecki, 2008), like anxiety (Vaquero-Lorenzo et al., 2008), psychosis (Andrews, 1985; Das et al., 1989, 1998; Middleton et al., 2002; Pfeiffer et al., 1970; Ramchand et al., 1994; Richardson-Andrews, 1983; Svinarev, 1986), depression and suicidal behavior (Andrews, 1985; Dahel et al., 2001; Fiori and Turecki, 2008; Guipponi et al., 2008; Sequeira et al., 2006, 2007; Turecki, 2006).

Interestingly, polyamines have been associated with stress response. Physical, chemical or emotional stress elicit a significant increase in polyamine levels in many tissues, particularly in brain regions involved in fear-conditioning, like amygdala and hippocampus (Gilad and Gilad, 2003). The magnitude of this effect seems to positively correlate on the intensity and duration of the stressful stimuli. Animal models of psychological stress show a significant increase in brain putrescine content, while spermidine or spermine show little or no change (Gilad and Gilad, 2003; Rhee et al., 2007). In addition, hypothalamus–pituitary–adrenal (HPA) axis may be connected to polyamine metabolism, as adrenocorticotrophin (ACTH) is the main enhancer of polyamine synthetic enzyme, ornithinedecarboxilase (ODC) activity in the adrenal glands (Bastida et al., 2007; Vaquero-Lorenzo et al., 2008).

#### 5.3. Polyamines modulate ionotropic glutamate receptors

Under physiological circumstances, polyamines modulate the electrochemical activity of NMDARs (Aizenman et al., 2002; McGurk et al., 1990; Pellegrini-Giampietro, 2003; Traynelis et al., 1995) and AMPARs (Pellegrini-Giampietro, 2003), both of which have been extensively linked to fear learning and memory formation (Izquierdo and Medina, 1997; Jasnow et al., 2004). But polyamines may act differently, depending on their particular type and their levels (Williams et al., 1990, 1994). In general terms, putrescine weakly antagonizes NMDARs, both spermidine and spermine show an NMDAR agonistic effect, and spermine blocks most types of AMPARs and KARs (Williams et al., 1990, 1994).

Acting over NMDARs, polyamines may enhance both [<sup>3</sup>H]TCP and [<sup>3</sup>H]MK-801 binding at low micromolar range, whereas higher levels may lead to no significant change (Williams, 1997a, 1997b). Similarly, while low polyamine levels may enhance NMDA-induced currents, high levels may ameliorate or even inhibit them, resulting in a biphasic concentration dose–response curve (McGurk et al., 1990; Rock and Macdonald, 1995; Sprosen and Woodruff, 1990; Williams et al., 1991). This effect depends on the different subunits integrating NMDARs (Williams, 1997a, 1997b).

Spermine is responsible for the plateau-like shape of currentpotential curves for non-NMDA glutamate receptors. As membrane potential (Vm) rises, spermine (highly cationic at physiological pH) is forced to enter into the channel pore, blocking  $Ca^{2+}$  flux through it. However, with Vm higher over + 50Mv, spermine molecules are forced out of the pore and  $Ca^{2+}$  permeability is restored. This effect can only be observed in mGluR2 subunits lacking cationic arginine at Q/R moiety at the transmembrane M2 domain (Stromgaard and Mellor, 2004).

#### 5.4. There is a link between polyamines and anxiety-related conditions

Polyamines may be involved in the regulation of fear-conditioning response (Camera et al., 2007; Gomes et al., 2010). Thus, systemic or intra-amygdalar administration of NMDA-agonist spermidine improves the acquisition and consolidation of auditory or contextual fearconditioning, whereas arcaine, which antagonizes polyamine-binding site on NMDA receptors, or NMDA antagonist MK-801, block it (Camera et al., 2007; Mikolajczak et al., 2002; Rubin et al., 2001, 2004b). Systemic administration of spermidine improves the consolidation of fear conditioning. This facilitatory effect of systemically injected spermidine on memory is in agreement with the view that polyamines modulate memory by facilitating NMDAR activity (Berlese et al., 2005; Guerra et al., 2006; Rubin et al., 2004b).

Interestingly, intra-amygdalar injection of polyamines causes a biphasic effect on fear conditioning, in a similar pattern of what can be observed for NMDAR activity. Although low doses of spermidine improve fear memory formation, high doses of spermidine have no effect (Rubin et al., 2004a). In fact, polymines modulate acquisition and/or early consolidation of inhibitory avoidance (Rubin et al., 2000, 2001) and fear conditioning tasks (Rubin et al., 2004a). The immediately post-training intrahippocampal and intra-amygdalar administration of low doses of spermidine improves memory of the inhibitory avoidance (Rubin et al., 2004a). The facilitatory effect of low doses of spermidine on the memory of the inhibitory avoidance task is restricted to the acquisition and early consolidation phases, as it does not alter late consolidation and retrieval (Berlese et al., 2005).

Facilitatory effects of spermidine could be antagonized by minute amounts of arcaine, an antagonist of the NMDAR polyamine binding site, suggesting that NMDAR is involved in the memory improvement induced by spermidine (Rubin et al., 2000, 2001; 2004b). The injection of arcaine into the amygdala, at doses higher than those required to block the facilitatory effects of spermidine, may impair memory of inhibitory avoidance and fear conditioning tasks (Rubin et al., 2004b), what suggest an endogenous "polyaminergic tonus" might exist, and could possibly modulate memory processing under physiological circumstances (Camera et al., 2007). Nevertheless, negative results have also been published. In this experimental context, post-training intrahippocampal administration of arcaine (Rubin et al., 2000) or ifenprodil (da Silva et al., 2006) may have no effect on memory of inhibitory avoidance task in rats.

NR2B-specific antagonist, ifenprodil, may selectively block synaptic plasticity in LA, without disrupting normal synaptic transmission (Blair et al., 2001). Although, systemic administration of arcaine (5.0 mg/kg, i. p) before training improves the memory of the social recognition task, systemic administration of ifenprodil has no effect on that social recognition paradigm (Mikolajczak et al., 2002). Hence, the fact drugs targeting NMDAR polyamine site show amnestic activity in aversive, but not in non-aversive, tasks may be explained by its preferential effect on the amygdala. If that is the case, polyamine antagonists might be useful to prevent the formation of aversive memories, and then they might be useful in stress-related conditions, like PTSD (Hageman et al., 2001). Moreover, modulation of fear conditioning by arcaine is timedependent; administration 0, 60 or 180 min after training impairs fear conditioning, whereas with no significant effect can be observed 360 min after training (Camera et al., 2007). This observation is in agreement with the observations by Berlese (Berlese et al., 2005), who found that the effect of intrahippocampal spermidine on memory of inhibitory avoidance is also time-dependent (Berlese et al., 2005). Systemic or intra-amygdala injection of ifenprodil, before training, disrupts the acquisition of contextual and tone fear-conditioning in rats (Rodrigues et al., 2001), and intraverebroventricular administration of ifenprodil also reverses memory facilitation caused by spermidine and NMDA in the inhibitory avoidance task (olfactory bulbectomized mice) (Tadano et al., 2004). Indeed, systemic administration of NMDAR antagonist at the polyamine binding site, eliprodil, has shown no significant effect on short (Sternberg memory scanning and paired words) or long-term memory (delayed free recall o pictures for longterm memory) in humans (Patat et al., 1994). Due to the fact that polyamines are known to have limited access to the brain (Camera et al., 2007), they have been overlooked as compounds that might cause

Га	bl	le	8	
----	----	----	---	--

A summary of the main	studies evaluating agn	natine antidepressant a	nd anxiolvtic-like a	ctivities in animals.
j i i j i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	00	···· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		

Author	Animal model	Route	Outcome
Zomkowski et al. (2002)	FST (ratas) TST (ratas)	I.p ó i.c.v	Agmatine shows antidepressant-like activity
Aricioglu and Altunbas (2003)	FST (ratas)	I.p	Agmatine shows antidepressant-like activity, similar to imipramine
Aricioglu and Altunbas (2003)	EPM (ratas)	I.p	Agmatine (40 mg/kg) show anxiolytic-like effects. Similar potency as benzodiazepines
			Doses >80–100 mg/kg show lack of efficacy
Lavinsky et al. (2003)	EPM (ratas)	I.p	Agmatine exerts anxiolytic-like effects
Gong et al. (2006)	VDCT (ratas y ratones)	S.C	Agmatine exerts anxiolytic-like effects
		p.o	
	LDTT (ratas y ratones)	S.C	
	SIT (ratas y ratones)	p.o	

EPM: elevated plus-maze; FST: forced swim test; TST: tail suspensión test;; VCT: Vogel Conflict Test; LDTT: Light-dark transition test; SIT: social interaction test; i.p: intraperitoneal; i.c.v: intracerebroventricular; p.o: per orum; and s.c: subcutaneous.

central effects when given systemically. Only minute amounts of polyamines (within picomol range) are necessary to improve memory in the CNS, what may compensate their limited access to the brain (Camera et al., 2007).

Recently, a positive association between SAT-1-1415T/C SNP (rs1960264) and anxiety has been reported (Vaquero-Lorenzo et al., 2008). In particular, the T genotype was significantly more frequent in males suffering from anxiety disorders than in healthy male controls. Remarkably, rats over-expressing the main enzyme regulating polyamine catabolism, SSAT-1, show significantly higher brain putrescine levels, and show spatial learning and memory test performance impairment compared to their non-modified counterparts (Halonen et al., 1993; Kaasinen et al., 2004).

Some studies have recently examined the possible link between agmatine and stress response. Some authors have found increased agmatine levels in patients suffering from depression (Fiori and Turecki, 2008; Halaris et al., 1999). Rats exposed to cold restraint stress during 4 h leads to a significant increase in plasmatic and cortical agmatine levels, an effect not observed under normal temperature or after shorter stress periods (Aricioglu and Altunbas, 2003). Intraperitoneal administration of low doses of agmatine (0.01-50 mg/kg) (Zomkowski et al., 2002), may exert an antidepressant-like effect in some animal models of stress (FST, forced swim test, and TST tail suspensión test). That antidepressant-like effect may not be linked to significant changes in motor activity. A similar effect was seen with intracerebroventricular administration of agmatine (1-100 nmol/ lateral ventricles) in the FST. Accordingly, intraperitoneal administration of agmatine may exert an antidepressant-like activity in the FST paradigm (Aricioglu and Altunbas, 2003), which may be as strong as that caused by (30 mg/kg). Antidepressant-like effect paradigms of agmatine, both in TST and in FST, does not seem to be blocked by NMDAR antagonist MK-801 (Zomkowski et al., 2002), but may be significantly abolished with previous administration of  $\alpha_2$  antagonist and 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> antagonist, yohimbine (Zomkowski et al., 2002).

Recent data from rodents have determined that agmatine may have anxyolitic-like activity (VCT, SIT) (Gong et al., 2006). Agmatine (40 mg/kg) has also shown to be as good anxyolitic as benzodiazepines in rats (Aricioglu and Altunbas, 2003; Lavinsky et al., 2003). Higher doses of agmatine may not show more efficacy than placebo, what could be due to the fact that agmatine may exert neurotoxic effects at high doses. Accordingly, intravenous agmatine administration to rhesus monkey may lead to maintained weight loss, lethargy and increases in blood urea (Piletz et al., 2003). A summary of the main studies of antidepressant and anxiolytic-like activities of agmatine are shown in Table 8.

#### 6. Conclusions

Anxiety is a major health issue that generates enormous disability, social, laboral, and economic burden. To date, routine treatments available for anxiety disorders include drugs targeting GABA and serotonin neurotransmission (benzodiazepines and SSRIs, respectively). Unfortunately, adverse side effects induced by those drugs may have a negative effect on compliance, increasing the risk of relapse.

A growing body of evidence suggests that glutamatergic neurotransmission may be involved in the biological mechanisms underlying stress response and anxiety-related disorders. The glutamatergic system mediates the acquisition and extinction of fear-conditioning. Thus, new drugs targeting glutamatergic neurotransmission seem to be an appealing promising target for anxiety-related disorders. In particular, NMDAR antagonists (AP5, AP7, CGP37849, CGP39551, LY235959, NPC17742, and MK-801), NMDAR partial agonists (DCS, ACPC), AMPAR antagonists (topiramate), mGluR1 negative allosteric modulators (AIDA, EMQMCM, JNJ16259685, LY456236), mGluR2/3 positive allosteric modulators (LY354740), and mGluR5 negative allosteric modulators (MPEP, MTEP), have shown anxiolytic-like effects in several animal models.

In humans, genetic, behavioral, and pharmacological studies have suggested that glutamatergic neurotransmission may be involved in anxiety-related conditions, such as PTSD, OCD, phobias, and panic disorder. Additionally, clinical trials have demonstrated that drugs acting at glutamate system may have some efficacy in the treatment of anxiety disorders. Promising results have been reported for NMDAR antagonists (memantine, some antiepileptic drugs), and NMDAR partial agonists (DCS), mGluR2/3 allosteric modulators (LY354740 and LY544344).

Several studies have suggested that polyamines may be involved in the mechanisms underlying stress-response and anxiety-related disorders. This could mainly be attributed to their ability to modulate ionotropic glutamate receptors, specifically NR2B subunits. The NR2B antagonist ifenprodil impairs fear conditioning. Agmatine may have anxiolytic effects in some animal models of anxiety (VCT and SIT). Thus, polyamines seem to be a promising new target for the treatment of anxiety-related disorders.

Throughout this paper we have compiled a battery of evidence which should leave the reader in no doubt as to the key role played by glutamatergic neurotransmission in the onset of fear response and anxiety. To this end, our recommendation is that more pharmacological research and development be done into the targeting of these pathways to open up an alternative range of treatment to the ones currently available.

#### References

- Aboujaoude E, Barry JJ, Gamel N. Memantine augmentation in treatment-resistant obsessive-compulsive disorder: an open-label trial. J Clin Psychopharmacol 2009;29:51–5.
- Aizenman CD, Munoz-Elias G, Cline HT. Visually driven modulation of glutamatergic synaptic transmission is mediated by the regulation of intracellular polyamines. Neuron 2002;34:623–34.
- Alonso J, Lepine JP. Overview of key data from the European Study of the Epidemiology of Mental Disorders (ESEMeD). J Clin Psychiatry 2007;68(Suppl. 2):3–9.
- American Psychiatric Association. American Psychiatric Association Practice Guidelines for the Treatment of Psychiatric Disorders: Compendium 2006; 2006.

- Amorapanth P, Ledoux JE, Nader K. Different lateral amygdala outputs mediate reactions and actions elicited by a fear-arousing stimulus. Nat Neurosci 2000;3:74–9.
- Andrews RC. The side effects of antimalarial drugs indicates a polyamine involvement in both schizophrenia and depression. Med Hypotheses 1985;18:11–8.
- Anthony EW, Nevins ME. Anxiolytic-like effects of N-methyl-D-aspartate-associated glycine receptor ligands in the rat potentiated startle test. Eur J Pharmacol 1993;250(2):317–24.
- Aricioglu F, Altunbas H. Is agmatine an endogenous anxiolytic/antidepressant agent? Ann NY Acad Sci 2003;1009:136–40.
- Arnold PD, Rosenberg DR, Mundo E, Tharmalingam S, Kennedy JL, Richter MA. Association of a glutamate (NMDA) subunit receptor gene (GRIN2B) with obsessive-compulsive disorder: a preliminary study. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2004;174:530–8.
- Aupperle RL, Hale LR, Chambers RJ, Cain SE, Barth FX, Sharp SC, et al. An fMRI study examining effects of acute D-cycloserine during symptom provocation in spider phobia. CNS Spectr 2009;14:556–71.
- Ballard TM, Woolley ML, Prinssen E, Huwyler J, Porter R, Spooren W. The effect of the mGlu5 receptor antagonist MPEP in rodent tests of anxiety and cognition: a comparison. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2005;179:218–29.
- Banasr M, Chowdhury GM, Terwilliger R, Newton SS, Duman RS, Behar KL, et al. Glial pathology in an animal model of depression: reversal of stress-induced cellular, metabolic and behavioral deficits by the glutamate-modulating drug riluzole. Mol Psychiatry 2010;15:501–11.
- Barkus C, McHugh SB, Sprengel R, Seeburg PH, Rawlins JN, Bannerman DM. Hippocampal NMDA receptors and anxiety: at the interface between cognition and emotion. Eur J Pharmacol 2010;626:49–56.
- Barros DM, Izquierdo LA, Mello e Souza, Ardenghi PG, Pereira P, Medina JH, et al. Molecular signalling pathways in the cerebral cortex are required for retrieval of one-trial avoidance learning in rats. Behav Brain Res 2000;114:183–92.
- Bartha R, Drost DJ, Menon RS, Williamson PC. Comparison of the quantification precision of human short echo time (1)H spectroscopy at 1.5 and 4.0 Tesla 35. Magn Reson Med 2000;44:185–92.
- Bastida CM, Cremades A, Castells MT, López-Contreras AJ, López-García C, Sánchez-Mas J, et al. Sexual dimorphism of ornithine decarboxylase in the mouse adrenal: influence of polyamine deprivation on catecholamine and corticoid level. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2007:1010–7.
- Battista MA, Hierholzer R, Khouzam HR, Barlow A, O'Toole S. Pilot trial of memantine in the treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder. Psychiatry 2007;70:167–74.
- Bauer EP, Schafe GE, Le Doux JE. Different induction protocols recruit NMDA and L-type calcium channel-dependent LTP in the lateral amygdala: correlation with fear memory. Soc Neurosci 2000:1253.
- Bauer EP, Schafe GE, Ledoux JE. NMDA receptors and L-type voltage-gated calcium channels contribute to long-term potentiation and different components of fear memory formation in the lateral amygdala. J Neurosci 2002;22:5239–49.
- Becker A, Peters B, Schroeder H, Mann T, Huether G, Grecksch G. Ketamine-induced changes in rat behaviour: a possible animal model of schizophrenia. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 2003;27:687–700.
- Becquet D, Hery M, Francois-Bellan AM, Giraud P, Deprez P, Faudon M, et al. Glutamate, GABA, glycine and taurine modulate serotonin synthesis and release in rostral and caudal rhombencephalic raphe cells in primary cultures. Neurochem Int 1993;23: 269–83.
- Benvenga MJ, overshinner CD, Monn JA, Leander JD. Disinhibitory effects of LY354470, a new mgluR2 agonist, on behavior suppressed by electric shock in rats and pigeons. Drug Dev Res 1999;47:37–44.
- Bergink V, Westenberg HG. Metabotropic glutamate II receptor agonists in panic disorder: a double blind clinical trial with LY354740. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 2005;20:291–3.
- Bergink V, van Megen HJ, Westenberg HG. Glutamate and anxiety. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 2004;14:175–83.
- Berlant JL. Prospective open-label study of add-on and monotherapy topiramate in civilians with chronic nonhallucinatory posttraumatic stress disorder. BMC Psychiatry 2004;4:24.
- Berlant J, van Kammen DP. Open-label topiramate as primary or adjunctive therapy in chronic civilian posttraumatic stress disorder: a preliminary report. J Clin Psychiatry 2002;63:15–20.
- Berlese DB, Sauzem PD, Carati MC, Guerra GP, Stiegemeier JA, Mello CF, et al. Timedependent modulation of inhibitory avoidance memory by spermidine in rats. Neurobiol Learn Mem 2005;83:48–53.
- Berlin HA. Antiepileptic drugs for the treatment of post-traumatic stress disorder. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2007;9:291–300.
- Bertoglio LJ, Carobrez AP. Anxiolytic-like effects of NMDA/glycine-B receptor ligands are abolished during the elevated plus-maze trial 2 in rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2003;170:335-42.
- Bhattacharyya S, Khanna S, Chakrabarty K, Mahadevan A, Christopher R, Shankar SK. Anti-brain autoantibodies and altered excitatory neurotransmitters in obsessive– compulsive disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology 2009;34:2489–96.
- Bhattacharyya SK, Sen AP, Upadhyay SN. Anxiolytic activity of piracetam, a nootropic agent, following subchronic administration in rodents. Indian J Exp Biol 1993;31: 902–7.
- Blair HT, Schafe GE, Bauer EP, Rodrigues SM, Ledoux JE. Synaptic plasticity in the lateral amygdala: a cellular hypothesis of fear conditioning. Learn Mem 2001;8:229–42.
- Blair HT, Sotres-Bayon F, Moita MA, Ledoux JE. The lateral amygdala processes the value of conditioned and unconditioned aversive stimuli. Neuroscience 2005;133: 561–9.
- Bliss TV, Collingridge GL. A synaptic model of memory: long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. Nature 1993;361:31–9.

- Bliss TV, Lomo T. Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in the dentate area of the anaesthetized rabbit following stimulation of the perforant path. J Physiol 1973:331–56.
- Bourtchouladze R, Abel T, Berman N, Gordon R, Lapidus K, Kandel ER. Different training procedures recruit either one or two critical periods for contextual memory consolidation, each of which requires protein synthesis and PKA. Learn Mem 1998;5:365–74.
- Brann DW, Mahesh VB. Excitatory amino acids: evidence for a role in the control of reproduction and anterior pituitary hormone secretion. Endocr Rev 1997;18: 678–700.
- Bremner JD, Mletzko T, Welter S, Quinn S, Williams C, Brummer M, et al. Effects of phenytoin on memory, cognition and brain structure in post-traumatic stress disorder: a pilot study. J Psychopharmacol 2005;19:159–65.
- Britton JC, Gold AL, Feczko EJ, Rauch SL, Williams D, Wright CL D-cycloserine inhibits amygdala responses during repeated presentations of faces. CNS Spectr 2007;12: 600–5.
- Brodkin J, Bradbury M, Busse C, Warren N, Bristow LJ, Varney MA. Reduced stressinduced hyperthermia in mGluR5 knockout mice. Eur J Neurosci 2002a;16(11): 2241–4.
- Brodkin J, Busse C, Sukoff SJ, Varney MA. Anxiolytic-like activity of the mGluR5 antagonist MPEP: a comparison with diazepam and buspirone. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 2002b;73(2):359–66.
- Bueno AB, Collado I, de DA, Dominguez C, Martin JA, Martin LM, et al. Dipeptides as effective prodrugs of the unnatural amino acid (+)-2-aminobicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-2,6-dicarboxylic acid (LY354740), a selective group II metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist. J Med Chem 2005;48(16):5305–20.
- Busse CS, Brodkin J, Tattersall D, Anderson JJ, Warren N, Tehrani L, et al. The behavioral profile of the potent and selective mGlu5 receptor antagonist 3-[(2-methyl-1,3thiazol-4-yl)ethynyl]pyridine (MTEP) in rodent models of anxiety. Neuropsychopharmacology 2004;29:1971–9.
- Buttelmann B, Peters JU, Ceccarelli S, Kolczewski S, Vieira E, Prinssen EP, et al. Arylmethoxypyridines as novel, potent and orally active mGlu5 receptor antagonists. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 2006;16(7):1892–7.
- Camera K, Mello CF, Ceretta AP, Rubin MA. Systemic administration of polyaminergic agents modulate fear conditioning in rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2007;192: 457–64.
- Campeau S, Miserendino MJ, Davis M. Intra-amygdala infusion of the N-methyl-paspartate receptor antagonist AP5 blocks acquisition but not expression of fearpotentiated startle to an auditory conditioned stimulus. Behav Neurosci 1992;106: 569–74.
- Chaki S, Yoshikawa R, Hirota S, Shimazaki T, Maeda M, Kawashima N, et al. MGS0039: a potent and selective group II metabotropic glutamate receptor antagonist with antidepressant-like activity. Neuropharmacology 2004;46(4):457–67.
- Chakrabarty K, Bhattacharyya S, Christopher R, Khanna S. Glutamatergic dysfunction in OCD. Neuropsychopharmacology 2005;30:1735–40.
- Chambers RA, Bremner JD, Moghaddam B, Southwick SM, Charney DS, Krystal JH. Glutamate and post-traumatic stress disorder: toward a psychobiology of dissociation. Semin Clin Neuropsychiatry 1999;4:274–81.
- Chapman PF, Kairiss EW, Keenan CL, Brown TH. Long-term synaptic potentiation in the amygdala. Synapse 1990;6:271–8.
- Charney DS, Deutch A. A functional neuroanatomy of anxiety and fear: implications for the pathophysiology and treatment of anxiety disorders. Crit Rev Neurobiol 1996;10:419–46.
- Chen GG, Fiori LM, Moquin L, Gratton A, Mamer O, Mechawar N, et al. Evidence of altered polyamine concentrations in cerebral cortex of suicide completers. Neuropsychopharmacology 2010;35:1477–84.
- Cheramy A, Romo R, Godeheu G, Baruch P, Glowinski J. In vivo presynaptic control of dopamine release in the cat caudate nucleus – II. Facilitatory or inhibitory influence of L-glutamate. Neuroscience 1986;19:1081–90.
- Chojnacka-Wojcik E, Tatarczynska E, ren-Wesolek A. Effect of glycine on antidepressant- and anxiolytic-like action of 1-aminocyclopropanecarboxylic acid (ACPC) in rats. Pol J Pharmacol 1996;48(6):627–9.
- Chojnacka-Wojcik E, Tatarczynska E, Pilc A. The anxiolytic-like effect of metabotropic glutamate receptor antagonists after intrahippocampal injection in rats. Eur J Pharmacol 1997;319(2–3):153–6.
- Collins DR, Pare D. Differential fear conditioning induces reciprocal changes in the sensory responses of lateral amygdala neurons to the CS(+) and CS(-). Learn Mem 2000;7:97-103.
- Connor KM, Davidson JR, Weisler RH, Zhang W, Abraham K. Tiagabine for posttraumatic stress disorder: effects of open-label and double-blind discontinuation treatment. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2006;184:21–5.
- Conrad CD, Ledoux JE, Magarinos AM, McEwen BS. Repeated restraint stress facilitates fear conditioning independently of causing hippocampal CA3 dendritic atrophy. Behav Neurosci 1999;113:902–13.
- Coplan JD, Mathrew SJ, Smith EL, Trost RC, Scharf BA, Martinez J. Effects of LY354740, a novel glutamatergic metabotropic agonist, on nonhuman primate hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis and noradrenergic function. CNS Spectr 2001;6:606–12.
- Corbett R, Dunn RW. Effects of HA-966 on conflict, social interaction and plus maze behaviour. Drug Dev Res 1991;24:201.
- Corbett R, Dunn RW. Effects of 5,7 dichlorokynurenic acid on conflict, social interaction and plus maze behaviors. Neuropharmacology 1993;32:461–6.
- Coric V, Taskiran S, Pittenger C, Wasylink S, Mathalon DH, Valentine G, et al. Riluzole augmentation in treatment-resistant obsessive-compulsive disorder: an openlabel trial. Biol Psychiatry 2005;58:424–8.
- Cortese BM, Phan KL. The role of glutamate in anxiety and related disorders. CNS Spectr 2005;10:820-30.

- Cortese BM, Mitchell TR, Galloway MP, Prevost KE, Fang J, Moore GJ, et al. Regionspecific alteration in brain glutamate: possible relationship to risk-taking behavior. Physiol Behav 2010;99:445–50.
- Cosford ND, Tehrani L, Roppe J, Schweiger E, Smith ND, Anderson J, et al. 3-[(2-Methyl-1,3-thiazol-4-yl)ethynyl]-pyridine: a potent and highly selective metabotropic glutamate subtype 5 receptor antagonist with anxiolytic activity. J Med Chem 2003;46:204–6.
- Cratty MS, Birkle DL. N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA)-mediated corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) release in cultured rat amygdala neurons1810. Peptides 1999;20: 93-100.
- Czlonkowska A, Siemiatkowski M, Plaznik A. Some behavioral effects of AMPA/kainate receptor agonist and antagonists. J Physiol Pharmacol 1997;48(3):479–88.
- da Silva WC, Bonini JS, Bevilaqua LR, Izquierdo I, Cammarota M. Histamine enhances inhibitory avoidance memory consolidation through a H2 receptor-dependent mechanism. Neurobiol Learn Mem 2006;86:100–6.
- Dahel KA, Al-Saffar NM, Flayeh KA. Polyamine oxidase activity in sera of depressed and schizophrenic patients after ECT treatment. Neurochem Res 2001;26:415–8.
- Das I, de Belleroche J, Essali MA, Richardson-Andrews RC, Hirsch SR. Blood polyamine in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 1989;2:146.
- Das I, Ramchand CN, Gliddon A, Hirsch SR. Nitric oxide, free radicals and polyamines may have a role in the membrane pathology of schizophrenia. Neuropsychobiology 1998;37:65–7.
- Davidson RJ. Anxiety and affective style: role of prefrontal cortex and amygdala. Biol Psychiatry 2002;51:68–80.
- Davidson JR, Brady K, Mellman TA, Stein MB, Pollack MH. The efficacy and tolerability of tiagabine in adult patients with post-traumatic stress disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 2007;27:85–8.
- Davis RH, Morris DR, Coffino P. Sequestered end products and enzyme regulation: the case of ornithine decarboxylase. Microbiol Rev 1992;56:280–90.
- Davis M, Ressler K, Rothbaum BO, Richardson R. Effects of D-cycloserine on extinction: translation from preclinical to clinical work. Biol Psychiatry 2006;60:369–75.
- Day DE, Cooper MA, Markham CM, Huhman KL. NR2B subunit of the NMDA receptor in the basolateral amygdala is necessary for the acquisition of conditioned defeat in Syrian hamsters. Behav Brain Res 2010.
- Douglas BJ, Mletzko T, Welter S, Siddiq S, Reed L, Williams C, et al. Treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder with phenytoin: an open-label pilot study. J Clin Psychiatry 2004;65:1559–64.
- Duman RS, Heninger GR, Nestler EJ. A molecular and cellular theory of depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1997;54:597–606.
- Dunayevich E, Erickson J, Levine L, Landbloom R, Schoepp DD, Tollefson GD. Efficacy and tolerability of an mGlu2/3 agonist in the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology 2008;33:1603–10.
- Dunn RW, Corbett R, Fielding S. Effects of 5-HT1A receptor agonists and NMDA receptor antagonists in the social interaction test and the elevated plus maze. Eur J Pharmacol 1989;169:1-10.
- Ekegren, T. Transmethylation, Polyamines and Apoptosis in Amyothrophic Lateral Sclerosis. 2005. Uppsala University. 2004.Ref Type: Thesis/Dissertation.
- Elvander-Tottie E, Eriksson TM, Sandin J, Ogren SO. N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors in the medial septal area have a role in spatial and emotional learning in the rat. Neuroscience 2006;142:963–78.
- Emmett MR, Mick SJ, Cler JA, Rao TS, Iyengar S, Wood PL. Actions of D-cycloserine at the N-methyl-D-aspartate-associated glycine receptor site in vivo. Neuropharmacology 1991;30:1167–71.
- Ernst C, Mechawar N, Turecki G. Suicide neurobiology. Prog Neurobiol 2009;89:315-33.
- Fanselow MS, Kim JJ, Yipp J, De OB. Differential effects of the N-methyl-D-aspartate antagonist DL-2-amino-5-phosphonovalerate on acquisition of fear of auditory and contextual cues. Behav Neurosci 1994;108:235–40.
- Fendt M. Expression and conditioned inhibition of fear-potentiated startle after stimulation and blockade of AMPA/Kainate and GABA(A) receptors in the dorsal periaqueductal gray. Brain Res 2000;880(1–2):1-10.
- Fendt M. Injections of the NMDA receptor antagonist aminophosphonopentanoic acid into the lateral nucleus of the amygdala block the expression of fear-potentiated startle and freezing. J Neurosci 2001;21:4111–5.
- Fendt M, Koch M, Schnitzler HU. NMDA receptors in the pontine brainstem are necessary for fear potentiation of the startle response. Eur J Pharmacol 1996;318: 1–6.
- Fendt M, Schmid S, Thakker DR, Jacobson LH, Yamamoto R, Mitsukawa K, et al. mGluR7 facilitates extinction of aversive memories and controls amygdala plasticity. Mol Psychiatry 2008;13:970–9.
- Feusner JD, Kerwin L, Saxena S, Bystritsky A. Differential efficacy of memantine for obsessive–compulsive disorder vs. generalized anxiety disorder: an open-label trial. Psychopharmacol Bull 2009;42:81–93.
- Fiori LM, Turecki G. Implication of the polyamine system in mental disorders. J Psychiatry Neurosci 2008;33:102–10.
- Flint AC, Maisch US, Weishaupt JH, Kriegstein AR, Monyer H. NR2A subunit expression shortens NMDA receptor synaptic currents in developing neocortex. J Neurosci 1997;17:2469–76.
- Fraser CM, Cooke MJ, Fisher A, Thompson ID, Stone TW. Interactions between ifenprodil and dizocilpine on mouse behaviour in models of anxiety and working memory. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 1996;6:311–6.
- Frerking M, Nicoll RA. Synaptic kainate receptors. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2000;10: 342–51.
- Galici R, Echemendia NG, Rodriguez AL, Conn PJ. A selective allosteric potentiator of metabotropic glutamate (mGlu) 2 receptors has effects similar to an orthosteric mGlu2/3 receptor agonist in mouse models predictive of antipsychotic activity. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2005;315(3):1181–7.

- Garakani A, Mathew SJ, Charney DS. Neurobiology of anxiety disorders and implications for treatment. Mt Sinai J Med 2006;73:941–9.
- Gasparini F, Spooren W. Allosteric modulators for mGlu receptors. Curr Neuropharmacol 2007;5:187–94.
- Gilad GM, Gilad VH. Overview of the brain polyamine-stress-response: regulation, development, and modulation by lithium and role in cell survival. Cell Mol Neurobiol 2003;23:637–49.
- Giouzeli M, Williams NA, Lonie LJ, DeLisi LE, Crow TJ. ProtocadherinX/Y, a candidate gene-pair for schizophrenia and schizoaffective disorder: a DHPLC investigation of genomic sequence. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 2004;129B:1–9.
- Gomes GM, Mello CF, da Rosa MM, Bochi GV, Ferreira J, Barron S, et al. Polyaminergic agents modulate contextual fear extinction in rats. Neurobiol Learn Mem 2010;93: 589–95.
- Gomperts SN, Rao A, Craig AM, Malenka RC, Nicoll RA. Postsynaptically silent synapses in single neuron cultures. Neuron 1998;21:1443–51.
- Gong ZH, Li YF, Zhao N, Yang HJ, Su RB, Luo ZP, et al. Anxiolytic effect of agmatine in rats and mice. Eur J Pharmacol 2006;550:112–6.
- Goosens KA, Maren S. Contextual and auditory fear conditioning are mediated by the lateral, basal, and central amygdaloid nuclei in rats. Learn Mem 2001;8:148–55.
- Grant P, Lougee L, Hirschtritt M, Swedo SE. An open-label trial of riluzole, a glutamate antagonist, in children with treatment-resistant obsessive-compulsive disorder. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol 2007;17:761–7.
- Grillon C, Cordova J, Levine LR, Morgan III CA. Anxiolytic effects of a novel group II metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist (LY354740) in the fear-potentiated startle paradigm in humans. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2003;168:446–54.
- Guastella AJ, Lovibond PF, Dadds MR, Mitchell P, Richardson R. A randomized controlled trial of the effect of D-cycloserine on extinction and fear conditioning in humans. Behav Res Ther 2007;45:663–72.
- Guastella AJ, Richardson R, Lovibond PF, Rapee RM, Gaston JE, Mitchell P, et al. A randomized controlled trial of p-cycloserine enhancement of exposure therapy for social anxiety disorder. Biol Psychiatry 2008;63:544–9.
- Guerra GP, Mello CF, Sauzem PD, Berlese DB, Furian AF, Tabarelli Z, et al. Nitric oxide is involved in the memory facilitation induced by spermidine in rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2006;186:150–8.
- Guimaraes FS, Carobrez AP, De Aguiar JC, Graeff FG. Anxiolytic effect in the elevated plus-maze of the NMDA receptor antagonist AP7 microinjected into the dorsal periaqueductal grey. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 1991;103:91–4.
- Guipponi M, Deutsch S, Kohler K, Perroud N, Le GF, Vessaz M, et al. Genetic and epigenetic analysis of SSAT gene dysregulation in suicidal behavior. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 2008.
- Hageman I, Andersen HS, Jorgensen MB. Post-traumatic stress disorder: a review of psychobiology and pharmacotherapy. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2001;104:411–22.
- Halaris A, Zhu H, Feng Y, Piletz JE. Plasma agmatine and platelet imidazoline receptors in depression. Ann NY Acad Sci 1999;881:445–51.
- Halonen T, Sivenius J, Miettinen R, Halmekyto M, Kauppinen R, Sinervirta R, et al. Elevated seizure threshold and impaired spatial learning in transgenic mice with putrescine overproduction in the brain. Eur J Neurosci 1993;5:1233–9.
- Hammer MB, Robert S, Frueh BC. Treatment-resistant prosttraumatic stress disorder: strategies for intervention. CNS Spectr 2004;9:740–52 (Ref Type: Abstract).
- Hayase T, Yamamoto Y, Yamamoto K. Behavioral effects of ketamine and toxic interactions with psychostimulants. BMC Neurosci 2006;7:25.
- Helton DR, Tizzano JP, Monn JA, Schoepp DD, Kallman MJ. Anxiolytic and side-effect profile of LY354740: a potent, highly selective, orally active agonist for group II metabotropic glutamate receptors. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1998;284:651–60.
- Heresco-Levy U, Kremer I, Javitt DC, Goichman R, Reshef A, Blanaru M, et al. Pilotcontrolled trial of p-cycloserine for the treatment of post-traumatic stress disorder. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 2002;5:301–7.
- Heresco-Levy U, Vass A, Bloch B, Wolosker H, Dumin E, Balan L, et al. Pilot controlled trial of D-serine for the treatment of post-traumatic stress disorder. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 2009;12:1275–82.
- Herman JP, Eyigor O, Ziegler DR, Jennes L. Expression of ionotropic glutamate receptor subunit mRNAs in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus of the rat. J Comp Neurol 2000;422:352–62.
- Herry C, Ciocchi S, Senn V, Demmou L, Muller C, Luthi A. Switching on and off fear by distinct neuronal circuits. Nature 2008;454:600–6.
- Hertzberg MA, Butterfield MI, Feldman ME, Beckham JC, Sutherland SM, Connor KM, et al. A preliminary study of lamotrigine for the treatment of post traumatic stress disorder. Biol Psychiatry 1999;45:1226–9.
- Hestrin S. Activation and desensitization of glutamate-activated channels mediating fast excitatory synaptic currents in the visual cortex. Neuron 1992a;9:991–9.
- Hestrin S. Developmental regulation of NMDA receptor-mediated synaptic currents at a central synapse. Nature 1992b;357:686–9.
- Hicks TP, Conti F. Amino acids as the source of considerable excitation in cerebral cortex. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 1996;74:341–61.
- Hirsch SR, Das I, Garey LJ, de Belleroche J. A pivotal role for glutamate in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia, and its cognitive dysfunction. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 1997;56:797–802.
- Ho YJ, Hsu LS, Wang CF, Hsu WY, Lai TJ, Hsu CC, et al. Behavioral effects of d-cycloserine in rats: the role of anxiety level. Brain Res 2005;1043(1-2):179–85.
- Hofmann SG, Pollack MH, Otto MW. Augmentation treatment of psychotherapy for anxiety disorders with D-cycloserine. CNS Drug Rev 2006;12:208–17.
- Huang YY, Kandel ER. Postsynaptic induction and PKA-dependent expression of LTP in the lateral amygdala. Neuron 1998;21:169–78.
- Huang YY, Martin KC, Kandel ER. Both protein kinase A and mitogen-activated protein kinase are required in the amygdala for the macromolecular synthesis-dependent late phase of long-term potentiation. J Neurosci 2000;20:6317–25.

- Igarashi K, Kashiwagi K. Polyamines: mysterious modulators of cellular functions. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2000;271:559–64.
- lijima M, Chaki S. Separation-induced ultrasonic vocalization in rat pups: further pharmacological characterization. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 2005 Dec;82(4): 652–7.
- lijima M, Shimazaki T, Ito A, Chaki S. Effects of metabotropic glutamate 2/3 receptor antagonists in the stress-induced hyperthermia test in singly housed mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2007;190:233–9.
- Isaac JT, Nicoll RA, Malenka RC. Evidence for silent synapses: implications for the expression of LTP. Neuron 1995;15:427–34.
- Isgor C, Kabbaj M, Akil H, Watson SJ. Delayed effects of chronic variable stress during peripubertal-juvenile period on hippocampal morphology and on cognitive and stress axis functions in rats. Hippocampus 2004;14:636–48.
- Izquierdo I, Medina JH. Memory formation: the sequence of biochemical events in the hippocampus and its connection to activity in other brain structures. Neurobiol Learn Mem 1997;68:285–316.
- Jaeschke G, Porter R, Buttelmann B, Ceccarelli SM, Guba W, Kuhn B, et al. Synthesis and biological evaluation of fenobam analogs as mGlu5 receptor antagonists. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 2007;17:1307–11.
- Jardim MC, Guimaraes FS. GABAergic and glutamatergic modulation of exploratory behavior in the dorsomedial hypothalamus. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 2001;69 (3–4):579–84.
- Jardim MC, Guimaraes FS. Role of glutamate ionotropic receptors in the dorsomedial hypothalamic nucleus on anxiety and locomotor behavior. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 2004;79(3):541–6.
- Jardim MC, Aguiar DC, Moreira FA, Guimaraes FS. Role of glutamate ionotropic and benzodiazepine receptors in the ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus on anxiety. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 2005;82:182–9.
- Jasnow AM, Cooper MA, Huhman KL. N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors in the amygdala are necessary for the acquisition and expression of conditioned defeat. Neuroscience 2004;123:625–34.
- Jedema HP, Moghddam B. Characterization of excitatory amino acid modulation of dopamine release in the prefrontal cortex of conscious rats. J Neurochem 1996;66: 1448–53.
- Jessa M, Nazar M, Plaznik A. Anxiolytic-like action of intra-hippocampally administered NMDA antagonists in rats. Pol J Pharmacol 1995;47:81–4.
- Jessa M, Nazar M, Bidzinski A, Plaznik A. The effects of repeated administration of diazepam, MK-801 and CGP 37849 on rat behavior in two models of anxiety. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 1996;6:55–61.
- Joanny P, Steinberg J, Oliver C, Grino M. Glutamate and N-methyl-D-aspartate stimulate rat hypothalamic corticotropin-releasing factor secretion in vitro. J Neuroendocrinol 1997;9:93–7.
- Johnson MP, Barda D, Britton TC, Emkey R, Hornback WJ, Jagdmann GE, et al. Metabotropic glutamate 2 receptor potentiators: receptor modulation, frequencydependent synaptic activity, and efficacy in preclinical anxiety and psychosis model(s). Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2005;179(1):271–83.
- Johnston D, Hoffman DA, Colbert CM, Magee JC. Regulation of back-propagating action potentials in hippocampal neurons1. Curr Opin Neurobiol 1999;9:288–92.
- Julio-Pieper M, Hyland NP, Bravo JA, Dinan TG, Cryan JF. A novel role for the metabotropic glutamate receptor-7: modulation of faecal water content and colonic electrolyte transport in the mouse. Br J Pharmacol 2010;160:367–75.
- Kaasinen SK, Oksman M, Alhonen L, Tanila H, Janne J. Spermidine/spermine N1acetyltransferase overexpression in mice induces hypoactivity and spatial learning impairment. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 2004;78:35–45.
- Kaiser LG, Schuff N, Cashdollar N, Weiner MW. Age-related glutamate and glutamine concentration changes in normal human brain: 1H MR spectroscopy study at 4 T. Neurobiol Aging 2005;26:665–72.
- Kaplan GB, Moore KA. The use of cognitive enhancers in animal models of fear extinction. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 2011.
- Kapus GL, Gacsalyi I, Vegh M, Kompagne H, Hegedus E, Leveleki C, et al. Antagonism of AMPA receptors produces anxiolytic-like behavior in rodents: effects of GYKI 52466 and its novel analogues. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2008;198:231–41.
- Karcz-Kubicha M, Jessa M, Nazar M, Plaznik A, Hartmann S, Parsons CG, et al. Anxiolytic activity of glycine-B antagonists and partial agonists — no relation to intrinsic activity in the patch clamp. Neuropharmacology 1997;36:1355–67.
- Ke Y, Cohen BM, Bang JY, Yang M, Renshaw PF. Assessment of GABA concentration in human brain using two-dimensional proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Psychiatry Res 2000;100:169–78.
- Kellner M, Muhtz C, Stark K, Yassouridis A, Arlt J, Wiedemann K. Effects of a metabotropic glutamate(2/3) receptor agonist (LY544344/LY354740) on panic anxiety induced by cholecystokinin tetrapeptide in healthy humans: preliminary results. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2005;179:310–5.
- Kew JN, Kemp JA. lonotropic and metabotropic glutamate receptor structure and pharmacology. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2005;179:4-29.
- Khan S, Liberzon I. Topiramate attenuates exaggerated acoustic startle in an animal model of PTSD. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2004;172(2):225–9.
- Kilpeläinen, P. Ornithine Decarboxylase. Expression and regulation in rat brain and in transgenic mice.11750. 25–3–2002. Department of Biochemistry, University of Oulu. Ref Type: Thesis/Dissertation.
- Kita I, Seki Y, Nakatani Y, Fumoto M, Oguri M, Sato-Suzuki I, et al. Corticotropinreleasing factor neurons in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus are involved in arousal/yawning response of rats. Behav Brain Res 2006;169:48–56.
- Klempan TA, Rujescu D, Merette C, Himmelman C, Sequeira A, Canetti L, et al. Profiling brain expression of the spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase 1 (SAT1) gene in suicide. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 2009;150B:934–43.

- Klodzinska A, Chojnacka-Wojcik E. Anticonflict effect of the glycineB receptor partial agonist, D-cycloserine, in rats. Pharmacological analysis. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2000;152(2):224–8.
- Klodzinska A, Chojnacka-Wojcik E, Palucha A, Branski P, Popik P, Pilc A. Potential antianxiety, anti-addictive effects of LY 354740, a selective group II glutamate metabotropic receptors agonist in animal models. Neuropharmacology 1999;38 (12):1831–9.
- Klodzinska A, Tatarczynska E, Chojnacka-Wojcik E, Pilc A. Anxiolytic-like effects of group I metabotropic glutamate antagonist 2-methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)-pyridine (MPEP) in rats. Pol J Pharmacol 2000;52(6):463–6.
- Klodzinska A, Tatarczynska E, Stachowicz K, Chojnacka-Wojcik E. The anxiolytic-like activity of AIDA (1-aminoindan-1,5-dicarboxylic acid), an mGLu 1 receptor antagonist. J Physiol Pharmacol 2004;55:113–26.
- Koch M. Microinjections of the metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist, trans-(+/-)-1-amino-cyclopentane-1,3-dicarboxylate (trans-ACPD) into the amygdala increase the acoustic startle response of rats. Brain Res 1993;629(1):176–9.
- Konradi C, Heckers S. Molecular aspects of glutamate dysregulation: implications for schizophrenia and its treatment. Pharmacol Ther 2003;97:153–79.
- Kotlinska J, Liljequist S. The putative AMPA receptor antagonist, LY326325, produces anxiolytic-like effects without altering locomotor activity in rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 1998;60:119–24.
- Krystal JH. Neuroplasticity as a target for the pharmacotherapy of psychiatric disorders: new opportunities for synergy with psychotherapy. Biol Psychiatry 2007;62:833–4.
- Krystal JH, Karper LP, Seibyl JP, Freeman GK, Delaney R, Bremner JD, Charney DS. Subanesthetic effects of the noncompetitive NMDA antagonist, ketamine, in humans. Psychotomimetic, perceptual, cognitive, and neuroendocrine responses. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1994;51:199–214.
- Krystal JH, Mathew SJ, D'Souza DC, Garakani A, Gunduz-Bruce H, Charney DS. Potential psychiatric applications of metabotropic glutamate receptor agonists and antagonists. CNS Drugs 2010;24:669–93.
- Langton JM, Richardson R. The role of context in the re-extinction of learned fear. Neurobiol Learn Mem 2009;92:496–503.
- Langton JM, Richardson R. The effect of p-cycloserine on immediate vs. delayed extinction of learned fear. Learn Mem 2010;17:547–51.
- Lavinsky D, Arteni NS, Netto CA. Agmatine induces anxiolysis in the elevated plus maze task in adult rats. Behav Brain Res 2003;141:19–24.
- Ledgerwood L, Richardson R, Cranney J. Effects of D-cycloserine on extinction of conditioned freezing. Behav Neurosci 2003;117(2):341–9.
- Ledgerwood L, Richardson R, Cranney J. D-cycloserine and the facilitation of extinction of conditioned fear: consequences for reinstatement. Behav Neurosci 2004;118: 505–13.
- Ledoux JE. Emotion, memory and the brain. Sci Am 1994;270:50-7.
- Ledoux J. The emotional brain, fear, and the amygdala. Cell Mol Neurobiol 2003;23: 727–38.
- Ledoux J. The amygdala. Curr Biol 2007;17:R868-74.
- Ledoux JE, Farb CR. Neurons of the acoustic thalamus that project to the amygdala contain glutamate. Neurosci Lett 1991;134:145–9.
- Lee H, Kim JJ. Amygdalar NMDA receptors are critical for new fear learning in previously fear-conditioned rats. J Neurosci 1998;18:8444–54.
- Lee HJ, Choi JS, Brown TH, Kim JJ. Amygdalar NMDA receptors are critical for the expression of multiple conditioned fear responses. J Neurosci 2001;21: 4116–24.
- Lehmann H, Singh V, Ting P, Treit D, Parent M. Intra-amygdala infusions of the Nmethyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist DL-2-amino-5-phosphopentanoic acid impair shock-probe avoidance, but not elevated plus-maze performance. Neurosci Abstr 2000;755:4 (Ref Type: Abstract).
- Lehner M, Wislowska-Stanek A, Taracha E, Maciejak P, Szyndler J, Skorzewska A, et al. The effects of midazolam and d-cycloserine on the release of glutamate and GABA in the basolateral amygdala of low and high anxiety rats during extinction trial of a conditioned fear test. Neurobiol Learn Mem 2010;94(4):468–80.
- Lepine JP. The epidemiology of anxiety disorders: prevalence and societal costs. J Clin Psychiatry 2002;63(Suppl. 14):4–8.
- Lerma J. Kainate receptors keep the excitement high. Trends Neurosci 2001;24:139–40. Lerma J, Paternain AV, Rodriguez-Moreno A, Lopez-Garcia JC. Molecular physiology of kainate receptors. Physiol Rev 2001;81:971–98.
- Lev WB, Steward O. Synapses as associative memory elements in the hippocampal formation. Brain Res 1979:233–45.
- Liao D, Hessler NA, Malinow R. Activation of postsynaptically silent synapses during pairing-induced LTP in CA1 region of hippocampal slice. Nature 1995:375:400-4.
- Linden AM, Greene SJ, Bergeron M, Schoepp DD. Anxiolytic activity of the MGLU2/3 receptor agonist LY354740 on the elevated plus maze is associated with the suppression of stress-induced c-Fos in the hippocampus and increases in c-Fos induction in several other stress-sensitive brain regions. Neuropsychopharmacology 2004;29(3):502–13.
- Linden AM, Bergeron M, Schoepp DD. Comparison of c-Fos induction in the brain by the mGlu2/3 receptor antagonist LY341495 and agonist LY354740: evidence for widespread endogenous tone at brain mGlu2/3 receptors in vivo. Neuropharmacology 2005;49(Suppl 1):120–34.
- Loftis JM, Janowsky A. The N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunit NR2B: localization, functional properties, regulation, and clinical implications. Pharmacol Ther 2003;97:55–85.
- Luine V, Villegas M, Martinez C, McEwen BS. Repeated stress causes reversible impairments of spatial memory performance. Brain Res 1994;639:167–70.
- Lynch GS, Dunwiddic T, Gribkoff V. Heterosynaptic depression: a postsynaptic correlate of long-term potentiation. Nature 1977:737–9.

Magee JC, Johnston D. A synaptically controlled, associative signal for Hebbian plasticity in hippocampal neurons. Science 1997;275:209–13.

Malenka RC. The role of postsynaptic calcium in the induction of long-term potentiation. Mol Neurobiol 1991;5:289–95.

- Malenka RC, Nicoll RA. Long-term potentiation a decade of progress? Science 1999;285:1870-4.
- Maren S. Synaptic transmission and plasticity in the amygdala. An emerging physiology of fear conditioning circuits. Mol Neurobiol 1996;13:1-22.
- Maren S, Aharonov G, Stote DL, Fanselow MS. N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors in the basolateral amygdala are required for both acquisition and expression of conditional fear in rats. Behav Neurosci 1996:110:1365–74.
- Martin PD, Shapiro ML. Disparate effects of long-term potentiation on evoked potentials and single CA1 neurons in the hippocampus of anesthetized rats. Hippocampus 2000;10:207–12.
- Marton LJ, Pegg AE. Polyamines as targets for therapeutic intervention. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 1995;35:55–91.
- Matheus MG, Guimaraes FS. Antagonism of non-NMDA receptors in the dorsal periaqueductal grey induces anxiolytic effect in the elevated plus maze. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 1997;132:14–8.
- Mathew SJ, Coplan JD, Schoepp DD, Smith EL, Rosenblum LA, Gorman JM. Glutamate– hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis interactions: implications for mood and anxiety disorders. CNS Spectr 2001;6:555–64.
- Mathew SJ, Shungu DC, Mao X, Smith EL, Perera GM, Kegeles LS, et al. A magnetic resonance spectroscopic imaging study of adult nonhuman primates exposed to early-life stressors. Biol Psychiatry 2003;54:727–35.
- Mathew SJ, Amiel JM, Coplan JD, Fitterling HA, Sackeim HA, Gorman JM. Open-label trial of riluzole in generalized anxiety disorder. Am J Psychiatry 2005;162:2379–81.
- Mathew SJ, Price RB, Mao X, Smith EL, Coplan JD, Charney DS, et al. Hippocampal N-acetylaspartate concentration and response to riluzole in generalized anxiety disorder. Biol Psychiatry 2008;63:891–8.
- Mathiesen JM, Svendsen N, Brauner-Osborne H, Thomsen C, Ramirez MT. Positive allosteric modulation of the human metabotropic glutamate receptor 4 (hmGluR4) by SIB-1893 and MPEP. Br J Pharmacol 2003;138:1026–30.
- McCallum J, Kim JH, Richardson R. Impaired extinction retention in adolescent rats: effects of D-cycloserine. Neuropsychopharmacology 2010;35:2134–42.
- McGurk JF, Bennett MV, Zukin RS. Polyamines potentiate responses of N-methyl-paspartate receptors expressed in xenopus oocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1990;87:9971–4.
- McKernan MG, Shinnick-Gallagher P. Fear conditioning induces a lasting potentiation of synaptic currents in vitro. Nature 1997;390:607–11.
- McKinnon MC, Yucel K, Nazarov A, MacQueen GM. A meta-analysis examining clinical predictors of hippocampal volume in patients with major depressive disorder. J Psychiatry Neurosci 2009;34:41–54.
- Menard J, Treit D. Intra-septal infusions of excitatory amino acid receptor antagonists have differential effects in two animal models of anxiety. Behav Pharmacol 2000;11:99-108.
- Middleton FA, Mirnics K, Pierri JN, Lewis DA, Levitt P. Gene expression profiling reveals alterations of specific metabolic pathways in schizophrenia. J Neurosci 2002;22: 2718–29.
- Mikolajczak P, Okulicz-Kozaryn I, Kaminska E, Niedopad L, Polanska A, Gebka J. Effects of acamprosate and some polyamine site ligands of NMDA receptor on short-term memory in rats. Eur J Pharmacol 2002;444:83–96.
- Millan MJ. N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-coupled glycineB receptors in the pathogenesis and treatment of schizophrenia: a critical review. Curr Drug Targets CNS Neurol Disord 2002;1:191–213.
- Millan MJ. The neurobiology and control of anxious states. Prog Neurobiol 2003;70: 83-244.
- Millan MJ, Brocco M. The Vogel conflict test: procedural aspects, gamma-aminobutyric acid, glutamate and monoamines. Eur J Pharmacol 2003;463:67–96.
- Mirza NR, Bright JL, Stanhope KJ, Wyatt A, Harrington NR. Lamotrigine has an anxiolyticlike profile in the rat conditioned emotional response test of anxiety: a potential role for sodium channels? Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2005;180(1):159–68.
- Miserendino MJ, Sananes CB, Melia KR, Davis M. Blocking of acquisition but not expression of conditioned fear-potentiated startle by NMDA antagonists in the amygdala. Nature 1990;345:716–8.
- Moghaddam B. Stress preferentially increases extraneuronal levels of excitatory amino acids in the prefrontal cortex: comparison to hippocampus and basal ganglia. J Neurochem 1993;60:1650–7.
- Moghaddam B, Adams B, Verma A, Daly D. Activation of glutamatergic neurotransmission by ketamine: a novel step in the pathway from NMDA receptor blockade to dopaminergic and cognitive disruptions associated with the prefrontal cortex. J Neurosci 1997;17:2921–7.
- Moinard C, Cynober L, de Bandt JP. Polyamines: metabolism and implications in human diseases. Clin Nutr 2005;24:184–97.
- Molchanov ML, Guimaraes FS. Anxiolytic-like effects of AP7 injected into the dorsolateral or ventrolateral columns of the periaqueductal gray of rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2002;160:30–8.
- Molina-Hernandez M, Tellez-Alcantara NP, Perez-Garcia J, Olivera-Lopez JI, Jaramillo MT. Antidepressant-like and anxiolytic-like actions of the mGlu5 receptor antagonist MTEP, microinjected into lateral septal nuclei of male Wistar rats. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 2006;30(6):1129–35.
- Monn JA, Valli MJ, Massey SM, Wright RA, Salhoff CR, Johnson BG, et al. Design, synthesis, and pharmacological characterization of (+)-2-aminobicyclo[3.1.0] hexane-2,6-dicarboxylic acid (LY354740): a potent, selective, and orally active group 2 metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist possessing anticonvulsant and anxiolytic properties. J Med Chem 1997;40:528–37.

- Monyer H, Burnashev N, Laurie DJ, Sakmann B, Seeburg PH. Developmental and regional expression in the rat brain and functional properties of four NMDA receptors. Neuron 1994;12:529–40.
- Morgan DM. Polyamines. An overview. Mol Biotechnol 1999;11:229-50.
- Morrison SE, Salzman CD. Re-valuing the amygdala. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2010;20: 221-30.
- Mueller HT, Meador-Woodruff JH. Expression of the NR3A subunit of the NMDA receptor in human fetal brain. Ann NY Acad Sci 2003;1003:448–51.
- Mueller HT, Meador-Woodruff JH. NR3A NMDA receptor subunit mRNA expression in schizophrenia, depression and bipolar disorder. Schizophr Res 2004;71:361–70.
- Myers KM, Carlezon Jr WA, Davis M. Glutamate receptors in extinction and extinctionbased therapies for psychiatric illness. Neuropsychopharmacology 2011;36(1): 274–93.
- Nader K, Schafe GE, Le Doux JE. Fear memories require protein synthesis in the amygdala for reconsolidation after retrieval. Nature 2000;406:722–6.
- Nader K, Majidishad P, Amorapanth P, Ledoux JE. Damage to the lateral and central, but not other, amygdaloid nuclei prevents the acquisition of auditory fear conditioning. Learn Mem 2001;8:156–63.
- Nair J, Singh AS. The role of the glutamatergic system in posttraumatic stress disorder. CNS Spectr 2008;13:585–91.
- Nascimento Hackl LP, Carobrez AP. Distinct ventral and dorsal hippocampus AP5 anxiolytic effects revealed in the elevated plus-maze task in rats. Neurobiol Learn Mem 2007;88:177–85.
- Niewoehner B, Single FN, Hvalby O, Jensen V, Meyer zum Alten BS, Seeburg PH, et al. Impaired spatial working memory but spared spatial reference memory following functional loss of NMDA receptors in the dentate gyrus. Eur J Neurosci 2007;25: 837–46.
- Nishi M, Hinds H, Lu HP, Kawata M, Hayashi Y. Motoneuron-specific expression of NR3B, a novel NMDA-type glutamate receptor subunit that works in a dominantnegative manner. J Neurosci 2001;21:RC185.
- Norberg MM, Krystal JH, Tolin DF. A meta-analysis of D-cycloserine and the facilitation of fear extinction and exposure therapy. Biol Psychiatry 2008;63:1118–26.
- O'Connor RM, Finger BC, Flor PJ, Cryan JF. Metabotropic glutamate receptor 7: at the interface of cognition and emotion. Eur J Pharmacol 2010;639:123–31.
- Onishi BK, Xavier GF. Contextual, but not auditory, fear conditioning is disrupted by neurotoxic selective lesion of the basal nucleus of amygdala in rats. Neurobiol Learn Mem 2010;93:165–74.
- Otto MW, Tolin DF, Simon NM, Pearlson GD, Basden S, Meunier SA, et al. Efficacy of Dcycloserine for enhancing response to cognitive-behavior therapy for panic disorder. Biol Psychiatry 2010;67:365–70.
- Padovan CM, Del Bel EA, Guimaraes FS. Behavioral effects in the elevated plus maze of an NMDA antagonist injected into the dorsal hippocampus: influence of restraint stress. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 2000;67:325–30.
- Palucha A, Pilc A. Metabotropic glutamate receptor ligands as possible anxiolytic and antidepressant drugs. Pharmacol Ther 2007;115:116–47.
- Palucha A, Tatarczynska E, Branski P, Szewczyk B, Wieronska JM, Klak K, et al. Group III mGlu receptor agonists produce anxiolytic- and antidepressant-like effects after central administration in rats. Neuropharmacology 2004;46(2):151–9.
- Pape HC, Pare D. Plastic synaptic networks of the amygdala for the acquisition, expression, and extinction of conditioned fear. Physiol Rev 2010;90:419–63.
- Pare D, Quirk GJ, Ledoux JE. New vistas on amygdala networks in conditioned fear. J Neurophysiol 2004;92:1–9.
- Parnas AS, Weber M, Richardson R. Effects of multiple exposures to D-cycloserine on extinction of conditioned fear in rats. Neurobiol Learn Mem 2005;83(3):224–31.
- Pasquini M, Biondi M. Memantine augmentation for refractory obsessive-compulsive disorder. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 2006;30:1173–5.
- Patat A, Molinier P, Hergueta T, Brohier S, Zieleniuk I, Danjou P, et al. Lack of amnestic, psychotomimetic or impairing effect on psychomotor performance of eliprodil, a new NMDA antagonist. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 1994;9:155–62.
- Pellegrini-Giampietro DE. An activity-dependent spermine-mediated mechanism that modulates glutamate transmission. Trends Neurosci 2003;26:9-11.
- Pellow S, File SE. Anxiolytic and anxiogenic drug effects on exploratory activity in an elevated plus-maze: a novel test of anxiety in the rat. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 1986;24:525–9.
- Perez de la MM, Lara-Garcia D, Jacobsen KX, Vazquez-Garcia M, Crespo-Ramirez M, Flores-Gracia C, et al. Anxiolytic-like effects of the selective metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 antagonist MPEP after its intra-amygdaloid microinjection in three different non-conditioned rat models of anxiety. Eur J Neurosci 2006;23 (10):2749–59.
- Pfeiffer CC, Iliev V, Goldstein L, Jenney EH, Schultz R. Blood histamine, polyamines and the schizophrenias. Computer correlations of the low and high blood histamine types. Res Commun Chem Pathol Pharmacol 1970;1:247–65.
- Pietraszek M, Sukhanov I, Maciejak P, Szyndler J, Gravius A, Wislowska A, et al. Anxiolytic-like effects of mGlu1 and mGlu5 receptor antagonists in rats. Eur J Pharmacol 2005;514:25–34.
- Pilc A, Klodzinska A, Branski P, Nowak G, Palucha A, Szewczyk B, et al. Multiple MPEP administrations evoke anxiolytic- and antidepressant-like effects in rats. Neuropharmacology 2002;43(2):181–7.
- Piletz JE, May PJ, Wang G, Zhu H. Agmatine crosses the blood-brain barrier. Ann NY Acad Sci 2003;1009:64–74.
- Pittenger C, Coric V, Banasr M, Bloch M, Krystal JH, Sanacora G. Riluzole in the treatment of mood and anxiety disorders. CNS Drugs 2008;22:761–86.
- Plaznik A, Palejko W, Nazar M, Jessa M. Effects of antagonists at the NMDA receptor complex in two models of anxiety. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 1994;4:503–12.
- Poremba A, Gabriel M. Amygdalar efferents initiate auditory thalamic discriminative training-induced neuronal activity. J Neurosci 2001;21:270–8.

- Porter JH, Wiley JL, Balster RL. Effects of phencyclidine-like drugs on punished behavior in rats. | Pharmacol Exp Ther 1989;248:997-1002.
- Porter RH, Jaeschke G, Spooren W, Ballard TM, Buttelmann B, Kolczewski S, et al. Fenobam: a clinically validated nonbenzodiazepine anxiolytic is a potent, selective, and noncompetitive mGlu5 receptor antagonist with inverse agonist activity. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2005;315:711–21.
- Poyurovsky M, Weizman R, Weizman A, Koran L. Memantine for treatment-resistant OCD. Am J Psychiatry 2005;162:2191–2.
- Przegalinski E, Tatarczynska E, ren-Wesolek A, Chojnacka-Wojcik E. Anticonflict effects of a competitive NMDA receptor antagonist and a partial agonist at strychnineinsensitive glycine receptors. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 1996;54:73–7.
- Quirk GJ, Mueller D. Neural mechanisms of extinction learning and retrieval. Neuropsychopharmacology 2008;33:56–72.
- Ramchand CN, Das I, Gliddon A, Hirsch SR. Role of polyamines in the membrane pathology of schizophrenia. A study using fibroblasts from schizophrenic patients and normal controls. Schizophr Res 1994;13:249–53.
- Repa JC, Muller J, Apergis J, Desrochers TM, Zhou Y, Ledoux JE. Two different lateral amygdala cell populations contribute to the initiation and storage of memory. Nat Neurosci 2001;4:724–31.
- Ressler KJ, Rothbaum BO, Tannenbaum L, Anderson P, Graap K, Zimand E, et al. Cognitive enhancers as adjuncts to psychotherapy: use of p-cycloserine in phobic individuals to facilitate extinction of fear. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2004;61:1136–44.
- Reznikov LR, Grillo CA, Piroli GG, Pasumarthi RK, Reagan LP, Fadel J. Acute stressmediated increases in extracellular glutamate levels in the rat amygdala: differential effects of antidepressant treatment. Eur J Neurosci 2007;25:3109–14.
- Rhee HJ, Kim EJ, Lee JK. Physiological polyamines: simple primordial stress molecules. J Cell Mol Med 2007;11:685–703.
- Riaza Bermudo-Soriano C, Chinchilla Moreno A. Hipótesis glutamatérgica in esquizofrenia. Las esquizofrenias: sus hechos y valores clínicos y terapéuticos. Elsevier, Masson; 2007. p. 240–5.
- Riaza Bermudo-Soriano C, Puente García R, Chinchilla Moreno A, Rodríguez Quirós J, Vega Piñero M. Neurodesarrollo, esquizotaxia, y modelo diátesis-estrés en esquizofrenia. Las esquizofrenias: sus hechos y valores clínicos y terapéuticos. Masson: Elsevier; 2007. p. 75–99.
- Riaza Bermudo-Soriano C, Vaquero-Lorenzo C, Diaz-Hernández M, Pérez-Rodríguez MM, Fernández-Piqueras J, Saiz-Ruiz J, et al. SAT-1-1415T/C polymorphism and susceptibility to schizophrenia. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 2009;33:345–8.
- Richardson R, Ledgerwood L, Cranney J. Facilitation of fear extinction by D-cycloserine: theoretical and clinical implications. Learn Mem 2004;11:510–6.
- Richardson-Andrews RC. A central role for the polyamines in the aetiology of schizophrenia. Med Hypotheses 1983;11:157–66.
- Ritzen A, Mathiesen JM, Thomsen C. Molecular pharmacology and therapeutic prospects of metabotropic glutamate receptor allosteric modulators. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol 2005;97:202–13.
- Rock DM, Macdonald RL. Polyamine regulation of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor channels. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 1995;35:463–82.
- Rodrigues SM, Schafe GE, Ledoux JE. Intra-amygdala blockade of the NR2B subunit of the NMDA receptor disrupts the acquisition but not the expression of fear conditioning. J Neurosci 2001;21:6889–96.
- Rodrigues SM, Farb CR, Bauer EP, Ledoux JE, Schafe GE. Pavlovian fear conditioning regulates Thr286 autophosphorylation of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II at lateral amygdala synapses. J Neurosci 2004;24:3281–8.
- Rogan MT, Ledoux JE. LTP is accompanied by commensurate enhancement of auditoryevoked responses in a fear conditioning circuit. Neuron 1995;15:127–36.
- Rogan MT, Staubli UV, Ledoux JE. Fear conditioning induces associative long-term potentiation in the amygdala. Nature 1997;390:604-7.
- Rogan MT, Weisskopf MG, Huang Y-Y, Kandel ER, Lee D. Long-term potentiation in the amygdala: implications for memory. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2001.
- Rorick-Kehn LM, Hart JC, McKinzie DL. Pharmacological characterization of stressinduced hyperthermia in DBA/2 mice using metabotropic and ionotropic glutamate receptor ligands. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2005;183(2):226–40.
- Rorick-Kehn LM, Perkins EJ, Knitowski KM, Hart JC, Johnson BG, Schoepp DD, et al. Improved bioavailability of the mGlu2/3 receptor agonist LY354740 using a prodrug strategy: in vivo pharmacology of LY544344. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2006;316(2):905–13.
- Rosenblum K, Dudai Y, Richter-Levin G. Long-term potentiation increases tyrosine phosphorylation of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunit 2B in rat dentate gyrus in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996;93:10457–60.
- Rosenblum K, Berman DE, Hazvi S, Lamprecht R, Dudai Y. NMDA receptor and the tyrosine phosphorylation of its 2B subunit in taste learning in the rat insular cortex. J Neurosci 1997;17:5129–35.
- Rostas JA, Brent VA, Voss K, Errington ML, Bliss TV, Gurd JW. Enhanced tyrosine phosphorylation of the 2B subunit of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor in longterm potentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996;93:10452–6.
- Rubin MA, Boemo RL, Jurach A, Rojas DB, Zanolla GR, Obregon AD, et al. Intrahippocampal spermidine administration improves inhibitory avoidance performance in rats. Behav Pharmacol 2000;11:57–61.
- Rubin MA, Stiegemeier JA, Volkweis MA, Oliveira DM, Fenili AC, Boemo RL, et al. Intraamygdala spermidine administration improves inhibitory avoidance performance in rats. Eur J Pharmacol 2001;423:35–9.
- Rubin MA, Berlese DB, Stiegemeier JA, Volkweis MA, Oliveira DM, dos Santos TL, et al. Intra-amygdala administration of polyamines modulates fear conditioning in rats11824. J Neurosci 2004a;24:2328–34.
- Rubin MA, Berlese DB, Stiegemeier JA, Volkweis MA, Oliveira DM, dos Santos TL, et al. Intra-amygdala administration of polyamines modulates fear conditioning in rats. J Neurosci 2004b;24:2328–34.

- Sabatini BL, Svoboda K. Analysis of calcium channels in single spines using optical fluctuation analysis. Nature 2000;408:589–93.
- Sajdyk TJ, Shekhar A. Excitatory amino acid receptor antagonists block the cardiovascular and anxiety responses elicited by gamma-aminobutyric acidA receptor blockade in the basolateral amygdala of rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1997a;283:969–77.
- Sajdyk TJ, Shekhar A. Excitatory amino acid receptors in the basolateral amygdala regulate anxiety responses in the social interaction test. Brain Res 1997b;764:262–4.
- Salt TE, Eaton SA. Functions of ionotropic and metabotropic glutamate receptors in sensory transmission in the mammalian thalamus. Prog Neurobiol 1995: 55–72.
- Santini E, Muller RU, Quirk GJ. Consolidation of extinction learning involves transfer from NMDA-independent to NMDA-dependent memory. J Neurosci 2001;21:9009–17.
- Sapolsky RM. Stress and plasticity in the limbic system. Neurochem Res 2003;28: 1735–42.
- Schafe GE, Ledoux JE. Memory consolidation of auditory pavlovian fear conditioning requires protein synthesis and protein kinase A in the amygdala. J Neurosci 2000;20:RC96.
- Schafe GE, Nadel NV, Sullivan GM, Harris A, Ledoux JE. Memory consolidation for contextual and auditory fear conditioning is dependent on protein synthesis, PKA, and MAP kinase. Learn Mem 1999;6:97-110.
- Schafe GE, Atkins CM, Swank MW, Bauer EP, Sweatt JD, Ledoux JE. Activation of ERK/ MAP kinase in the amygdala is required for memory consolidation of pavlovian fear conditioning. J Neurosci 2000;20:8177–87.
- Schoepp DD, Wright RA, Levine LR, Gaydos B, Potter WZ. LY354740, an mGlu2/3 receptor agonist as a novel approach to treat anxiety/stress. Stress 2003;6(3):189–97.
- Schulz B, Fendt M, Gasparini F, Lingenhohl K, Kuhn R, Koch M. The metabotropic glutamate receptor antagonist 2-methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)-pyridine (MPEP) blocks fear conditioning in rats. Neuropharmacology 2001;41(1):1–7.
- Schwendt M, Jezova D. Gene expression of two glutamate receptor subunits in response to repeated stress exposure in rat hippocampus. Cell Mol Neurobiol 2000;20: 319–29.
- Seiler N. How important is the oxidative degradation of spermine?: minireview article. Amino Acids 2004;26:317–9.
- Seiler N, Delcros JG, Moulinoux JP. Polyamine transport in mammalian cells. An update. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 1996;28:843–61.
- Sequeira A, Gwadry FG, Ffrench-Mullen JM, Canetti L, Gingras Y, Casero Jr RA, et al. Implication of SSAT by gene expression and genetic variation in suicide and major depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2006;63:35–48.
- Sequeira A, Klempan T, Canetti L, Ffrench-Mullen J, Benkelfat C, Rouleau GA, et al. Patterns of gene expression in the limbic system of suicides with and without major depression. Mol Psychiatry 2007;12:640–55.
- Shekhar A, Keim SR. LY354740, a potent group II metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist prevents lactate-induced panic-like response in panic-prone rats. Neuropharmacology 2000;39(7):1139–46.
- Shepard JD, Barron KW, Myers DA. Corticosterone delivery to the amygdala increases corticotropin-releasing factor mRNA in the central amygdaloid nucleus and anxiety-like behavior. Brain Res 2000;861:288–95.
- Shimazaki T, lijima M, Chaki S. Anxiolytic-like activity of MGS0039, a potent group II metabotropic glutamate receptor antagonist, in a marble-burying behavior test. Eur J Pharmacol 2004;501(1–3):121–5.
- Shors TJ, Mathew PR. NMDA receptor antagonism in the lateral/basolateral but not central nucleus of the amygdala prevents the induction of facilitated learning in response to stress. Learn Mem 1998;5:220–30.
- Shors TJ, Weiss C, Thompson RF. Stress-induced facilitation of classical conditioning. Science 1992;257:537–9.
- Siegl S, Flor PJ, Fendt M. Amygdaloid metabotropic glutamate receptor subtype 7 is involved in the acquisition of conditioned fear. Neuroreport 2008;19:1147–50.
- Silvestre JS, Nadal R, Pallares M, Ferre N. Acute effects of ketamine in the holeboard, the elevated-plus maze, and the social interaction test in Wistar rats. Depress Anxiety 1997:5:29–33.
- Smialowska M, Wieronska JM, Domin H, Zieba B. The effect of intrahippocampal injection of group II and III metobotropic glutamate receptor agonists on anxiety; the role of neuropeptide Y. Neuropsychopharmacology 2007;32(6):1242–50.
- Soderpalm AK, Blomqvist O, Engel JA, Soderpalm B. Characterization of the anticonflict effect of MK-801, a non-competitive NMDA antagonist. Pharmacol Toxicol 1995;76:122–7.
- Spooren WP, Vassout A, Neijt HC, Kuhn R, Gasparini F, Roux S, et al. Anxiolytic-like effects of the prototypical metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 antagonist 2-methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)pyridine in rodents. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2000;295(3): 1267–75.
- Spooren WP, Schoeffter P, Gasparini F, Kuhn R, Gentsch C. Pharmacological and endocrinological characterisation of stress-induced hyperthermia in singly housed mice using classical and candidate anxiolytics (LY314582, MPEP and NKP608). Eur J Pharmacol 2002;435(2–3):161–70.
- Sprosen TS, Woodruff GN. Polyamines potentiate NMDA induced whole-cell currents in cultured striatal neurons. Eur J Pharmacol 1990;179:477–8.
- Stachowicz K, Klak K, Klodzinska A, Chojnacka-Wojcik E, Pilc A. Anxiolytic-like effects of PHCCC, an allosteric modulator of mGlu4 receptors, in rats. Eur J Pharmacol 2004;498:153–6.
- Stachowicz K, Klak K, Pilc A, Chojnacka-Wojcik E. Lack of the antianxiety-like effect of (S)-3,4-DCPG, an mGlu8 receptor agonist, after central administration in rats. Pharmacol Rep 2005;57(6):856–60.
- Stachowicz K, Chojnacka-Wojcik E, Klak K, Pilc A. Anxiolytic-like effects of group III mGlu receptor ligands in the hippocampus involve GABAA signaling. Pharmacol Rep 2006;58:820–6.

- Stachowicz K, Chojnacka-Wojcik E, Klak K, Pilc A. Anxiolytic-like effect of group III mGlu receptor antagonist is serotonin-dependent. Neuropharmacology 2007;52:306–12.
- Stachowicz K, Branski P, Klak K, van der PH, Cryan JF, Flor PJ, et al. Selective activation of metabotropic G-protein-coupled glutamate 7 receptor elicits anxiolytic-like effects in mice by modulating GABAergic neurotransmission. Behav Pharmacol 2008;19: 597–603
- Stachowicz K, Klodzinska A, Palucha-Poniewiera A, Schann S, Neuville P, Pilc A. The group III mGlu receptor agonist ACPT-I exerts anxiolytic-like but not antidepressant-like effects, mediated by the serotonergic and GABA-ergic systems. Neuropharmacology 2009;57:227–34.
- Stahl SM. Stahl's essential psychopharmacologyneuroscientific basis and practical applications. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2008.
- Steckler T, Lavreysen H, Oliveira AM, Aerts N, Van CH, Prickaerts J, et al. Effects of mGlu1 receptor blockade on anxiety-related behaviour in the rat lick suppression test. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2005;179:198–206.
- Stewart SE, Jenike EA, Hezel DM, Stack DE, Dodman NH, Shuster L, et al. A single-blinded case-control study of memantine in severe obsessive-compulsive disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 2010;30:34–9.
- Stromgaard K, Mellor I. AMPA receptor ligands: synthetic and pharmacological studies of polyamines and polyamine toxins. Med Res Rev 2004;24:589–620.
- Stuart GJ, Hausser M. Dendritic coincidence detection of EPSPs and action potentials. Nat Neurosci 2001;4:63-71.
- Svinarev VI. Polyamine studies of schizophrenia patients. Vrach Delo 1986:88-9.
- Szapiro G, Barros DM, Ardenghi P, Vianna MR, Choi H, Silva T, et al. Facilitation and inhibition of retrieval in two aversive tasks in rats by intrahippocampal infusion of agonists of specific glutamate metabotropic receptor subtypes. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2001;156(4):397–401.
- Tadano T, Hozumi S, Yamadera F, Murata A, Niijima F, Tan-No K, et al. Effects of NMDA receptor-related agonists on learning and memory impairment in olfactory bulbectomized mice. Methods Find Exp Clin Pharmacol 2004;26:93–7.
- Tang YP, Shimizu E, Dube GR, Rampon C, Kerchner GA, Zhuo M, et al. Genetic enhancement of learning and memory in mice. Nature 1999;401:63–9.
- Tatarczynska E, Klodzinska A, Kroczka B, Chojnacka-Wojcik E, Pilc A. The antianxietylike effects of antagonists of group I and agonists of group II and III metabotropic glutamate receptors after intrahippocampal administration. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2001;158:94–9.
- Tatarczynska E, Palucha A, Szewczyk B, Chojnacka-Wojcik E, Wieronska J, Pilc A. Anxiolytic- and antidepressant-like effects of group III metabotropic glutamate agonist (1S,3R,4S)-1-aminocyclopentane-1,3,4-tricarboxylic acid (ACPT-I) in rats. Pol J Pharmacol 2002;54:707–10.
- Thomas T, Thomas TJ. Polyamines in cell growth and cell death: molecular mechanisms and therapeutic applications. Cell Mol Life Sci 2001;58:244–58.
- Tizzano JP, Griffey KI, Schoepp DD. The anxiolytic action of mGlu2/3 receptor agonist, LY354740, in the fear-potentiated startle model in rats is mechanistically distinct from diazepam. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 2002;73(2):367–74.
- Tonetto LL, Terzian AL, Del Bel EA, Guimaraes FS, Resstel LB. Inhibition of the NMDA receptor/Nitric Oxide pathway in the dorsolateral periaqueductal gray causes anxiolytic-like effects in rats submitted to the Vogel conflict test. Behav Brain Funct 2009;5:40.
- Traynelis SF, Hartley M, Heinemann SF. Control of proton sensitivity of the NMDA receptor by RNA splicing and polyamines. Science 1995;268:873–6.
- Tsien JZ. Linking Hebb's coincidence-detection to memory formation. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2000;10:266–73.
- Turecki, G. Using brain expression studies to gain insight into the neurobiology of major depression and suicide. McGill Group for Suicide Studies Douglas Hospital Research Center McGill University.http://www.microarraybulletin.com/community/sympo sium/speaker/slides/turecki/Turecki\_AMB\_Symposium\_3-16-06\_files/frame.htm#sli de0146.htm2006 Ref Type: Electronic Citation.
- Ugolini A, Large CH, Corsi M. AMN082, an allosteric mGluR7 agonist that inhibits afferent glutamatergic transmission in rat basolateral amygdala. Neuropharmacology 2008;55:532–6.
- Uhde T, Galloway M, Fang J. Sleep deprivation and excitatory amino acids. Neuropsychopharmacology 2004;29:s213.
- Van AM, Mancini C, Pipe B, Oakman J, Bennett M. An open trial of topiramate in the treatment of generalized social phobia. J Clin Psychiatry 2004;65:1674–8.
- Vaquero-Lorenzo C, Riaza Bermudo-Soriano C, Pérez-Rodríguez MM, Díaz-Hernández M, López-Castromán J, Fernández-Piqueras J, et al. Positive association between SAT-1-1415T/C polymorphism and anxiety. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 2008:1–4.
- Varty GB, Grilli M, Forlani A, Fredduzzi S, Grzelak ME, Guthrie DH, et al. The antinociceptive and anxiolytic-like effects of the metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5) antagonists, MPEP and MTEP, and the mGluR1 antagonist, LY456236, in rodents: a comparison of efficacy and side-effect profiles. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2005;179:207–17.
- Von EJ, Doganci B, Jensen V, Hvalby O, Gongrich C, Taylor A, et al. Contribution of hippocampal and extra-hippocampal NR2B-containing NMDA receptors to performance on spatial learning tasks. Neuron 2008;60:846–60.
- Vujcic S, Diegelman P, Bacchi CJ, Kramer DL, Porter CW. Identification and characterization of a novel flavin-containing spermine oxidase of mammalian cell origin. Biochem J 2002;367:665–75.

- Vyas A, Mitra R, Shankaranarayana Rao BS, Chattarji S. Chronic stress induces contrasting patterns of dendritic remodeling in hippocampal and amygdaloid neurons. J Neurosci 2002;22:6810–8.
- Vyas A, Bernal S, Chattarji S. Effects of chronic stress on dendritic arborization in the central and extended amygdala. Brain Res 2003;965:290–4.
- Walker DL, Davis M. Involvement of NMDA receptors within the amygdala in shortversus long-term memory for fear conditioning as assessed with fear-potentiated startle. Behav Neurosci 2000;114(6):1019–33.
- Walker DL, Davis M. The role of amygdala glutamate receptors in fear learning, fear-potentiated startle, and extinction. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 2002;71: 379–92.
- Walker DL, Rattiner LM, Davis M. Group II metabotropic glutamate receptors within the amygdala regulate fear as assessed with potentiated startle in rats. Behav Neurosci 2002;116(6):1075–83.
- Wallace KJ, Rosen JB. Neurotoxic lesions of the lateral nucleus of the amygdala decrease conditioned fear but not unconditioned fear of a predator odor: comparison with electrolytic lesions. J Neurosci 2001;21:3619–27.
- Wang Y, Casero Jr RA. Mammalian polyamine catabolism: a therapeutic target, a pathological problem, or both? J Biochem 2006;139:17–25.
- Wang Y, Devereux W, Woster PM, Casero Jr RA. Cloning and characterization of the mouse polyamine-modulated factor-1 (mPMF-1) gene: an alternatively spliced homologue of the human transcription factor. Biochem J 2001;359:387–92.
- Weisskopf MG, Ledoux JE. Distinct populations of NMDA receptors at subcortical and cortical inputs to principal cells of the lateral amygdala. J Neurophysiol 1999;81: 930-4.
- Wieronska JM, Pilc A. Metabotropic glutamate receptors in the tripartite synapse as a target for new psychotropic drugs. Neurochem Int 2009;55:85–97.
- Wieronska JM, Szewczyk B, Palucha A, Branski P, Smialowska M. Involvement of CRF but not NPY in the anxiety regulation via NMDA receptors. Pol J Pharmacol 2003;55:1119–24.
- Wieronska JM, Smialowska M, Branski P, Gasparini F, Klodzinska A, Szewczyk B, et al. In the amygdala anxiolytic action of mGlu5 receptors antagonist MPEP involves neuropeptide Y but not GABAA signaling. Neuropsychopharmacology 2004;29(3): 514–21.
- Wieronska JM, Szewczyk B, Palucha A, Branski P, Zieba B, Smialowska M. Anxiolytic action of group II and III metabotropic glutamate receptors agonists involves neuropeptide Y in the amygdala. Pharmacol Rep 2005;57(6):734–43.
- Wieronska JM, Klak K, Palucha A, Branski P, Pilc A. Citalopram influences mGlu7, but not mGlu4 receptors' expression in the rat brain hippocampus and cortex. Brain Res 2007;1184:88–95.
- Wilensky AE, Schafe GE, Kristensen MP, Ledoux JE. Rethinking the fear circuit: the central nucleus of the amygdala is required for the acquisition, consolidation, and expression of Pavlovian fear conditioning. J Neurosci 2006;26:12387–96.
- Wiley JL. Behavioral pharmacology of N-methyl-D-aspartate antagonists: implications for the study and pharmacotherapy of anxiety and schizophrenia. Exp Clin Psychopharmacol 1997;5:365–74.
- Wiley JL, Cristello AF, Balster RL. Effects of site-selective NMDA receptor antagonists in an elevated plus-maze model of anxiety in mice. Eur J Pharmacol 1995;294: 101–7.
- Willetts J, Clissold DB, Hartman TL, Brandsgaard RR, Hamilton GS, Ferkany JW. Behavioral pharmacology of NPC 17742, a competitive N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) antagonist. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1993;265:1055–62.
- Williams K. Interactions of polyamines with ion channels. Biochem J 1997a;325(Pt 2): 289–97.
- Williams K. Modulation and block of ion channels: a new biology of polyamines. Cell Signal 1997b;9:1-13.
- Williams K, Dawson VL, Romano C, Dichter MA, Molinoff PB. Characterization of polyamines having agonist, antagonist, and inverse agonist effects at the polyamine recognition site of the NMDA receptor. Neuron 1990;5:199–208.
- Williams K, Romano C, Dichter MA, Molinoff PB. Modulation of the NMDA receptor by polyamines. Life Sci 1991;48:469–98.
- Williams K, Zappia AM, Pritchett DB, Shen YM, Molinoff PB. Sensitivity of the N-methylp-aspartate receptor to polyamines is controlled by NR2 subunits. Mol Pharmacol 1994;45:803–9.
- Xie ZC, Buckner E, Commissaris RL. Anticonflict effect of MK-801 in rats: time course and chronic treatment studies. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 1995;51:635–40.
- Yoshimizu T, Shimazaki T, Ito A, Chaki S. An mGluR2/3 antagonist, MGS0039, exerts antidepressant and anxiolytic effects in behavioral models in rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2006;186(4):587–93.
- Zdanys K, Tampi RR. A systematic review of off-label uses of memantine for psychiatric disorders. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 2008;32:1362–74.
- Zhao MG, Toyoda H, Lee YS, Wu LJ, Ko SW, Zhang XH, et al. Roles of NMDA NR2B subtype receptor in prefrontal long-term potentiation and contextual fear memory. Neuron 2005;47:859–72.
- Ziegler DR, Cullinan WE, Herman JP. Organization and regulation of paraventricular nucleus glutamate signaling systems: N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. J Comp Neurol 2005;484:43–56.
- Zomkowski AD, Hammes L, Lin J, Calixto JB, Santos AR, Rodrigues AL. Agmatine produces antidepressant-like effects in two models of depression in mice. Neuroreport 2002;13:387–91.